
 
 

0 

  

 
 



 
 

1 

Contents 
 
 
 

 
 

PAGE 

Foundation Information 
 

2 

Trustees’ Annual Report 
 

3 

Independent Auditors’ Report 
 

34 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities 
 

36 

Balance Sheet 
 

37 

Notes to the Accounts 
 

39 

How will you make your IMPACT? 
 

48 

 

 

  

 

 
 



 

2 

Foundation Information 
 
 
Trustees who are Directors: 
  

Lady Wilson, OBE, FRCOphth (Hon)   Honorary President 
David Walker, CMG, CVO    Chair 

   John Scott     Vice-Chair 
Rob West, BA (Hons)     Vice-Chair  
Robin d’O. Hope    Honorary Treasurer 

 
Nicholas Astbury FRCS, FRCOphth, FRCP  

Keith Barnard-Jones, MBBS, MRCS, LRCP, D.Obst.RCOG, MRCGP 

Gordon Bennett, LL.B (Hons), LL.M, Dip Int Law 

Claire Hicks, MBE 
David Jameson Evans, FRCS, FRCS (C)    
Brenda Luck, MB, Ch.B, DHC, DRCOG, MRCGP 
John Mowbray, QC 
Michael O’Connell, MB, BS, BSc, MPhil, FRCS (Otol), FRCS (Orl) 
Lady Prance  
Sal Rassam MB BCh BAO LRCSI LRCPI DTM, DO MD FRCOphth  
Vinit Shah, MBBS, MRCP, FRCPCH  
Andrew Watt, BA (Hons)  
Peter Webster, MA, FCA 
 

     
Senior Management Team: 
   Judi Stagg     Chief Executive/Company Secretary 

Sarah Smith   Deputy Chief Executive 
Pascale Noel   Funding and Development Director 

    
Registered Office: 151 Western Road  Auditors: Carter Nicholls 

   Haywards Heath    Victoria House 
   West Sussex     Stanbridge Park 
   RH16 3LH     Staplefield Lane 
   Telephone:  01444 457080   Staplefield, Haywards Heath 
   Email: impact@impact.org.uk   West Sussex RH17 6AS 
 
 

Bankers:  Barclays Bank plc  Legal  Colemans Solicitors 
   77 South Road   Advisors: Paddockhall Chambers 
   Haywards Heath    Paddockhall Road 
   West Sussex     Haywards Heath 
   RH16 4LB     West Sussex RH16 1HF 
 
 
 

 
 

Charity Number: 290992 
Company Number: 1878297 
The IMPACT Foundation is a registered charity and a company without share capital limited by guarantee  

 



 

3 

 

Trustees’ Annual Report  

(Incorporating the Directors’ Report) 
 
I have just stood down as Chairman of IMPACT UK after 17 years in 
the role.  What did I learn? 
 
First, all members of the international IMPACT family have the same 
philosophy: prevention is the key and action must be taken today 
to reach our goal of a world without needless disability. 
 
Second, there is no hierarchy.  All IMPACTs are equal and act 
locally but share their skills and views globally. 
 
Third, people who become involved in IMPACT are active and 
positive.  For example, the members of the Mothers' Clubs in Bangladesh and Cambodia have really taken to 
heart what they have been taught about health, nutrition and sanitation.  They put it into practice and 
spread what they have learnt to others in their communities so that more families benefit.   
 
And you, the people who support our work so generously and make the action described in this report possible. 
 
Fourth, there is a great degree of cross-fertilisation between national IMPACTs, never more so than at the biennial 
meetings of all the IMPACT Foundations where we meet to exchange ideas and good practice. 
 
As you will see in the following pages, so many programmes are up and running.  Only a very partial list would 
give: a brilliant nurses' school in Bangladesh to give opportunities to poor young women and help meet the 
desperate need for nurses; the Jibon Tari floating hospital, also in Bangladesh, which takes surgery to remote 
villages; the 1,000 days programme in Cambodia designed to give children a healthy start from conception; a 
dedicated ear care centre in Nepal; obstetric fistula repair and maternal health programmes in Tanzania; the 
extraordinary expansion of the Lifeline Express in India (now a national treasure); a country-wide school health 
project in Zanzibar, with ambitious plans there for a new hospital; a community health and safe water 
programme in Kenya; clinics offering the only healthcare in remote, mountainous communities of Pakistan; a 
health post in Sri Lanka (set up after the 2004 Tsunami and still going strong)......and so much more.  In the last 
weeks of the year we had to add ‘responding to the Covid-19 coronavirus pandemic’ to the list. 
 
What underpins everything is the commitment, enthusiasm and integrity of everyone involved and the tireless 
work of a small army of volunteers. 
 
My successor as Chair will be Dr Brenda Luck, a long-time IMPACT Trustee who has visited virtually every IMPACT 
programme on the ground (at her own expense) including some really remote ones in the terai of Nepal.  Brenda 
will take us forward, maybe in new ways, but always with the same values.   
 
Sir John Wilson’s unusual and creative idea almost four decades ago is now an outstanding organisation, which 
has legions of dedicated supporters, including YOU.  And the way IMPACT operates - small, local and dedicated - 
is something that has many lessons for today's world.  I have been lucky to have been a member of a remarkable 
family. Thank you for your contribution and thank you, IMPACT, for the lessons you have given me.

 
 

David Walker CMG, CVO 
Chair, IMPACT Foundation UK 
15th April 2020 

Please note: These accounts were 
produced remotely during the 
Coronavirus pandemic. 
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Making an IMPACT – how & why  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

HOW IMPACT began 
 

Sir John Wilson (who was blind 
himself) founded IMPACT early in 

the 1980s as a means of 
empowering local communities 

with simple, low-cost ways of 
taking action to prevent disability 

 
 

WHERE we work 
 

AFRICA 
Kenya, Tanzania, Zanzibar 

Ethiopia, South Sudan 
 

ASIA 
Bangladesh, Cambodia, India, 

Nepal, Pakistan, Sri Lanka 
 

EUROPE 
The UK, Norway, Switzerland 

(raise money to support IMPACT’s 
partners in Africa and Asia) 

 

IMPACT’s aim is “To promote activities for the prevention of disablement and for the cure, mitigation or relief of 
disabling conditions”.   And as a result, to contribute to the alleviation of poverty which is inextricably linked to 
disability and compromised health.   
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IMPACT believes that no one should become or remain needlessly disabled through disease, lack of knowledge 
or shortage of medical services 
 
It is no coincidence that the vast majority of disabled people live in the developing world. The knowledge, technology 
and skills to prevent and alleviate many disabling conditions have been available for years, yet access to them is still 
not shared equitably between rich and poor countries, or between rich and poor people within countries.  The most 
impoverished men, women and children too often remain needlessly disabled by conditions that would be swiftly 
remedied if they had equal access to healthcare.  This can keep them from school or work; limiting opportunities to 
improve their living conditions and trapping them in a cycle of poverty and poor health. 

The link between disability and poverty is well-established. IMPACT’s work to prevent and treat needless disability 
therefore also makes a vital contribution to the alleviation of poverty. 

IMPACT believes that local people are best placed to know what needs to be done in their own country and how to do it 
in an appropriate and cost-effective way.  By building the capacity of local medical professionals and health workers 
with training and resources, and empowering community members with knowledge to help themselves, it is possible 
to overcome cultural and language barriers and effect sustainable change, while minimising the risk of dependence 
on foreign aid.  We therefore support the work of fellow IMPACT Foundations, and other long-standing partners, to 
implement projects that each has designed in order to meet specific local needs.  A central pillar of IMPACT’s 
philosophy is that IMPACT UK does NOT know best what people in other countries need (there are no British staff 
working for IMPACT overseas), but should act as a facilitator for those who do – our partners in each country. 
 
 

 

 
 
  

2019/20: Over 4,000 people underwent operations to reverse a disabling condition on board IMPACT’s 

Lifeline Express hospital train in India  
 



 

6 

 
IMPACT UK supports 12 trusted and long-standing local partners working in 11 countries of Africa and Asia who each 
run their own autonomous programme of action to prevent and treat needless disability; to promote health; and, as a 
consequence, to alleviate poverty.  We also run a successful project to promote healthy nutrition in our local 
community in the UK.  Our priorities for action are:  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

ACCESSIBLE SURGERY 

Our medical teams provide people with surgery to restore their sight, hearing or 
mobility – or to treat other disabling conditions and injuries 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EARLY IDENTIFICATION, TREATMENT & REHABILIATION 
Prevention is better than cure so we check people’s health and treat the early 
signs of needless disability.  We also provide rehabilitation and assistive devices 
such as spectacles, hearing aids and prostheses 

 
 
 
 
 
 

SAFER MOTHERHOOD AND CHILD SURVIVAL 
Straightforward monitoring and simple interventions such as improving nutrition 
can keep women and their babies safe and healthy during pregnancy, birth and 
infancy 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

SAFE WATER AND SANITATION 
Safe water and sanitation are the foundations of good health so we install 
sources of clean water in communities and help people to understand the need 
for hygiene and sanitation  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ENDING MALNUTRITION 
Improving diets because lack of vital vitamins and minerals is associated with 
disabling conditions such as visual and cognitive impairment, as well as 
increasing the risks of pregnancy, and compromising immunity  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

HEALTH EDUCATION , TRAINING & EMPOWERMENT 
We empower local people with the skills and knowledge to protect the health of 
themselves, their families and communities 
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How each country programme contributes to our objectives 
 

Country Early 
Identification 
& Treatment 

Accessible 
Surgery 

Safer 
Motherhood & 
Child Survival 

Health 
education & 
training 

Ending 
Malnutrition 

Safe Water & 
Sanitation 

Bangladesh       

Cambodia       

India       
Kenya       

Nepal       

Pakistan       
Sri Lanka       
Tanzania       
The UK       
Zanzibar       

 

The public benefit of our work 
IMPACT’s work makes a clear and valuable contribution to the following three public benefit purposes as defined in 
the Charities Act 2011.  The rest of this report will demonstrate how we do this in more detail. 
 
1)  The advancement of health or the saving of lives 

2) The relief of those in need by reason of youth, age, ill-health, disability, financial hardship or other 
disadvantage 

3)  Prevention or relief of poverty 
 

Performance 
There are many measures of a charity’s performance.  To 
IMPACT, the most valuable of these is the real lives changed 
by our work in some of the most impoverished parts of Africa 
and Asia, and among those in need in our local West Sussex 
community.   

This year, 1,146,217 people’s lives have been touched in a 
multitude of ways, from undergoing surgery to reverse a 
needlessly disabling condition, to gaining access to clean 
water or being empowered with knowledge to protect their health.   This action can be life-transforming for the 
person involved and is detailed by country in the following pages.  The number of beneficiaries would have been even 
larger but the advent of the Covid-19 coronavirus pandemic in the last quarter of this year curtailed our partners’ 
activities as countries around the globe went into lockdown. 

In addition to our ‘Tasty Team’ project to promote healthy nutrition on a limited budget for vulnerable groups in West 
Sussex, IMPACT UK has supported 12 partners working in 11 countries of east Africa, south-east Asia and southern 
Asia.  This is more countries than last year as we have been delighted to support Tanzania-based Maternity Africa’s 
work in Ethiopia and South Sudan. 

 

How every £1 was invested 
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Overall activity: 
 

 

NB – The decrease in some activity numbers is due to the Covid-19 pandemic lockdowns in Q4, the rising costs of action 
in every country around the world, Governments taking over some activities making them unnecessary for IMPACT to 
implement, and to some partners funding their own projects locally. For example, the Community Health Initiative run 
by IMPACT India Foundation reaches very large numbers of people but is now funded in India. It is always our aim to 
build the capacity of our local partners to take full responsibility for the work they undertake from funding to delivery.  
This frees up IMPACT UK’s limited funds to pump-prime new initiatives and prevents aid dependency, and we regard it 
as a sign of success. 
 

As can be seen in the chart above, IMPACT’s work is varied but the common thread running through every activity we 
support is the prevention or treatment of needlessly disabling conditions.   Unlike many INGOs, IMPACT is not a ‘top-
down’ organisation with UK headquarters and sub-offices run by ex-patriate staff in lower-income countries.  Our 
dedicated and trusted partners around the world are autonomous charities which are registered in their own country 
and have their accounts independently audited.  Each partner develops their projects in response to their deep 
understanding of local needs and culture; an understanding which comes from lived experience and strong roots 
embedded in the communities they serve. 

We strive to make a lasting impact with everything we support.  We are particularly pleased this year to have been 
able to bring safe water and sanitation and assistive devices such as hearing aids, spectacles and prosthetic limbs to a 
significantly increased number of people; up 160.6% and 42.4% respectively on the previous financial year.   

Clean water and sanitation form the foundation stone of health projects by removing the constant threat of 
waterborne diseases which kill or sap the health of millions of people around the world every day.  There is a 
particular impact on nutritional status.  For example, parasites steal any goodness from meagre diets leaving affected 
people weak and malnourished.  This stunts or wastes young bodies and causes blindness and cognitive impairment, 
among other conditions. Combined with our work to empower people with knowledge and skills to improve their 
diets, such as by home gardening, safe water and sanitation is of vital importance to better health, and as a result, 
poverty alleviation. 

In many low-income countries, only 5-15% of people who need an assistive device have one.  Assistive devices are 
designed to maintain or improve a person’s ability to lead an independent and fulfilling life and without them, it is 
very difficult for a person with a disability to reach their potential or participate fully in society.  They may also prevent 

Action 2019 to 2020 2018 to 2019 
People examined and provided with treatment 
 

665,635 792,324 

Operations to restore sight, mobility or hearing, or 
to repair cleft lip or fistula 

14,037 15,652 

Immunisation against disabling disease (activities to 
support Government vaccination programmes) 

9,404 12,223 

Mothers and babies receiving pre and post-natal 
care 

16,740 
 

31,359 

Combatting malnutrition, including home garden 
and micronutrient supplement beneficiaries 

68,041 126,924 

Health professionals and community volunteers 
received training 

3,875 10,321 

People provided with health education or 
empowered within their communities 

286,355 530,792 

People benefiting from safe water and improved 
sanitation 

61,335 23,535 

Assistive devices given (hearing 
aids/orthotics/prostheses etc.) 

20,795 14,606 

Medical facilities upgraded / provided with 
equipment 

7 8 



 

9 

secondary disabilities, for example, accidents caused 
by low vision.  From our dedicated orthotic and 
prosthetic centres to spectacle dispensaries and 
hearing aid units, IMPACT is helping people who 
need an assistive device to get one. 

We have built infrastructure by upgrading seven 
health facilities and supplying essential items of 
medical equipment and we have supported training 
for 3,875 local medical and health workers.  Funds 
were sent to partners to improve even more health 
facilities which would have been completed but for 
the Covid-19 pandemic lockdowns.  This is a 
sustainable investment which enhances the quality of 
the health care delivered, as well as the quantity.   
We were also able to purchase much-needed project 
vehicles for our partners in Cambodia and Kenya, to 
replace old and unreliable vehicles which were costly to run.  Significant expenditure such as this does not show up as 
numbers of people counted in our activity figures above, although of course many people will benefit now and in the 
future as a result. 

We set ourselves 14 goals in last year’s report –  ‘Looking to the Future’ on page 24 – and we are pleased to report 
that 13 of these were achieved in full, and one was partially achieved.  Had the Covid-19 pandemic lockdown not 
prevented IMPACT East Africa from completing four boreholes in Q4, 100% of last year’s goals would have been 
achieved. A detailed breakdown of these achievements can be found in Appendix 1 of this report. 

IMPACT has stringent monitoring guidelines which helps us to analyse the impact of our work.  All our partners send 
regular activity, statistical and expenditure reports and these are carefully monitored against agreed targets, enabling 
adjustments to be made if necessary.  IMPACT UK and our partners work collaboratively in order to deliver the best 
service we can to the vulnerable men, women and children around the world who rely on us, often as their only hope 
of healthcare or medical treatment. Independent project evaluations monitor the impact of many projects.  Our work 
is small and flexible enough to be able to respond quickly when changes are needed or when events outside of our 
control (such as natural disasters) require action. 

Helping people who are underserved in terms of healthcare and at particular risk of needless disability as a result, 
means working in hard-to-reach communities, with lack of infrastructure and educational deficits.  Many of our 
beneficiaries are among the poorest of the poor – often illiterate and without basic amenities such as safe water, 
sanitation or enough food to eat.  This throws up additional challenges, and frequently increases costs but, we believe, 
reaching such people is the most valuable thing we can do.   

Multi-dimensional deprivation also highlights the need for IMPACT’s comprehensive-style projects which tackle the 
problems faced by individual communities on a number of fronts – primary healthcare is complemented by the 
provision of safe water and sanitation, better nutrition and health education in order to supercharge the benefits.  

Of course, it is impossible to benefit vulnerable people without the funds that make our projects possible.  This year, 
thanks to the generous support of so many people, we generated incoming resources of £1,712,856 (up 18.3% on 
FY18/19 £1,448,235).  Securing voluntary income remains extremely challenging for all charities and we are pleased, 
therefore, to report on a significant uplift on the previous year. 

More income enabled increased expenditure (£1,752,354 up 16.9% on the previous year) and 92% of this was 
invested in direct charitable expenditure: helping the men, women and children we serve.  In FY18/19, 90% of the 
money we spent was on charitable activities which demonstrates that this year’s increased expenditure has been 
invested in our project work, rather than the Foundation’s essential running costs.  Our modest office (which was 
gifted to us more than 25 years ago) and small, dedicated team of staff help to keep these to a minimum and we 
always prioritise spending on project work over everything else. 

Further information can be found in the section ‘Financial Review and Policies’ on page 29. 
 

2019/20: IMPACT’s new project vehicle in Kenya  
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Highlights of the year’s achievements

Asia: Bangladesh 

 
IMPACT Foundation Bangladesh (IFB) implements a thriving disability 
prevention and treatment programme; providing much-needed 
healthcare, health education, clean water and sanitation to the very 
poorest men, women and children in the rural districts of Chuadanga and 
Meherpur.  

 The Jibon Tari floating hospital is a modern hospital on a boat.  It takes 
medical care and surgery along the waterways to remote regions, docking 
at a riverside community for 4-6 months and providing high quality 
medical care to people who might otherwise never see a doctor. 

 
 

 
 

Additional achievements…IMPACT UK’s support has also: 
 

 Funded the training of ten students at IFB’s Nursing Institute in Meherpur district, in order to help meet the 
critical shortage of nurses in the country 

 Helped people in rural communities to access safe water by installing a ringwell, six SIDKO plants and 
distributing 40 arsenic filters to vulnerable families benefitting approximately 3,700 people 

 Improved access to sanitation and reduced the risk of waterborne disease by installing or upgrading five 
school toilet blocks benefiting 125 teachers and 7,500 pupils 

 Provided menstrual hygiene education and/or kits to 4,000 girls and young women 

 Run the second phase of an extended cataract project, taking a mobile eye clinic into Magura, Jhenaidah and 
Kushtia districts in western Bangladesh.  2,631 people had their eyes checked and 120 people were provided 
with sight-restoring cataract surgery at IFB’s hospitals 

2019-20 Activities 
 

Target Achievement 

People screened and treated for disabling and other health conditions in 
Outpatients Departments and clinics in the community 

55,000 79,758 

People attending health education and awareness sessions to learn how to 
protect themselves and their families 

46,500 72,524 

People who benefited from operations to restore their sight, hearing or 
movement or to ameliorate other disabling conditions 

3,421 3,625 

People provided with assistive devices and/or physiotherapy 3,325 11,021 

Women provided with ante and post natal care including micronutrient 
supplements (folic acid etc.) 

2,500 2,943 

Immunisations against infectious diseases and/or Vitamin A to protect 
eyesight given to children 

3,400 5,405 

Traditional Birth Attendants trained and provided with a sterile equipment kit 434 601 

Village Mothers’ Clubs meeting regularly  900 900 

Primary school teachers trained to check their students’ vision and health 228 300 

Children checked by trained teachers 3,000 3,217 

Home gardens established to provide families with nutritious fruit and 
vegetables to eat and the potential to generate income 

1,000 1,465 

Local health workers, rural medical practitioners, NGO workers and 
community leaders trained to understand and identify needless disability 

534 623 

  

“I will be forever grateful to the 
IMPACT floating hospital for the 

operation to mend my son Asraful’s 
cleft lip. Now he can play and make 

friends like any other child” 
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 Provided 15 babies and children with hydrocephalus with brain surgery to relieve their condition.  The 
youngest patient was just four days old. 

 Purchased medical equipment for IFB’s hospitals including a digital X-ray machine, non-contact tonometer, 
slit lamp and an analyser machine for the pathological laboratory. 

 Provided impoverished families with 23 ‘gaggles of geese’ and 10 pairs of chickens to enhance their diets and 
generate income. 

 Supported IFB in its work to run the Jibon Mela hospital and community based primary healthcare project in 
Meherpur district.  Thanks to this project, 24,323 people have been screened for health conditions, 1,105 
operations have been performed, 40 people have had physiotherapy and an assistive device to ease mobility, 
9,359 patients with hypertension have been checked, 1,664 women have received quality pre and postnatal 
care including vaccinations and dietary supplements as required, 6,976 pathology tests have been 
undertaken, 1,800 health education sessions have been held, 5,424 home gardens are yielding fresh produce 
to improve diets, and 300 Mothers’ Clubs are disseminating vital health education to an average of 4,691 
members.  In addition, 201 local traditional birth attendants, teachers, community leaders and health 
workers have been trained to deliver better care to people in Meherpur. 

 
 

 
Safe water for Amdanga Village  
Arsenic is tasteless, odourless and naturally 
present in much of Bangladesh’s 

groundwater. It is a slow, silent killer and it is 
estimated that 43,000 people die each year from 
arsenic-related diseases. Amdanga Village is one of six 
communities where IMPACT Bangladesh has installed 
a SIDKO plant this year. This filters arsenic from water, 
making it safe to drink.  There was much local 
celebration on the day it was inaugurated!  One 
community member said, ‘One of my neighbours died 
last year, my mother-in-law got arsenic poisoning too. 
We had no alternative to drink unsafe water until 
IMPACT came to us’.  

 
 

 

IMPACT’s partners in nursing   
The UK Royal College of Nursing Foundation has 
supported IFB’s Nursing Institute since its early 

days. Past President Dr Cecilia Amin CBE, along with 
senior nursing colleagues from King’s College Hospital 
and the Commonwealth Nurses and Midwives 
Federation, visited Bangladesh in February 2020 to see 
the Institute for themselves and conduct training. It was 
a proud moment for graduating students Grace and 
Sabrina to meet some of their sponsors in person.   
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Cambodia
We supported two partners in Cambodia this year: IMPACT Cambodia and The Lake 
Clinic (TLC), based on the Tonlé Sap lake, which is the largest freshwater lake in 
Southeast Asia, and a UNESCO biosphere reserve due to its biodiversity. 
 

IMPACT Cambodia 
IMPACT Cambodia’s core objectives are to screen and provide early treatment for 
men, women and children who have ENT conditions in order to minimise hearing 
loss and deafness; to provide affordable and accessible ENT and plastic surgery to 
restore hearing and treat burns; and to promote safer motherhood and child 
survival by implementing the internationally renowned ‘1,000 Days’ project which 
cares for the health of mothers and babies from conception to the child’s 2nd 
birthday.  Action takes place on the edge of Phnom Penh and in Kandal, Banteay 
Meanchey and Kampong provinces. 

 

Additional achievements…IMPACT UK’s support has also: 
 

 Purchased a new 4WD project vehicle to make journeys to project locations safer and quicker and enable the 
team to reach remote villages over unmade roads, even during the rainy season 

 Constructed and equipped a permanent building at O’Dangkor Health Post to replace the wooden shack that 
had been used.  This contains a pharmacy, adult and paediatric outpatients’ departments, a maternity care 
room and an epidemiology room.  5,000 people rely on O’Dangkor for vaccinations, maternity care and 
general health but the dilapidated building was no longer fit for purpose.  We were also able to fund training 
for 13 nurses and midwives from nine local health centres in nutrition, ante and postnatal care, and leprosy. 

 Provided 110 water filters to schools, hospitals and family homes in Banteay Meanchey Province to ensure 
local people have clean water to drink and for daily use.   

 A Dengue Fever outbreak in 2019 affected many people in our project area of Banteay Meanchey 
Province.  We were able to send funds to purchase serums (used to maintain the balance of body fluids) and 
extra hospital beds. 296 patients – mainly children – benefited.  

 Provided intraocular lenses which have been used for 1,104 sight-restoring cataract operations. 
 

 A beacon of hope for mothers   
This year, IMPACT constructed a new delivery suite and upgraded 
maternal health equipment at Phnom Dei Health Centre in north-

eastern Cambodia; ‘We have seen the Health Centre become more reliable in 
the eyes of pregnant women and people in the area. Lately, many more 
pregnant women are coming for treatment and requesting to deliver their 
babies here. Before this extension room was built, people in the village would 
choose to go elsewhere because they believed that the space of the old 
delivery room would be an uncomfortable experience’ - IMPACT Cambodia 

2019-20 Activities 
 

Target Achievement 

People screened and treated for ENT issues in 
health centres 

1,575 6,676 

Children screened and treated for ENT issues in 
primary schools 

900 738 

Ear operations at Preah Angdoung and Chey 
Chumneas hospitals 

190 159 
 

Women and their babies participating in the 1,000 
Days safer motherhood and nutrition project 

200 205 

Hospitals and health posts upgraded with new 
facilities and equipment 

3 3 

  

“Because I have leprosy, 
people used to stare at me 
and say words that hurt my 
feelings. So I decided not to 
go out and see anyone, not 
even doctors when I was 
sick. Now IMPACT has visited 
me in my home and 
explained to my neighbours 
the facts about the disease, I 
feel more open to no longer 
hiding alone in the house.” 
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 Learning from each other 

This year, surgical teams from Canada and Nepal staged 
ENT surgical camps in partnership with IMPACT Cambodia. 

This has boosted capacity and provided valuable training 
opportunities for local surgeons: “I have learnt a lot from our 
visiting surgeons. My English language and communication has 
been improved, and my surgical technique too. For some ear 
cases, I used to learn from theories only and have never seen it in 
practice. This has been a great opportunity for me.” 
Dr Bunnarith, ENT Doctor at Chey Chumneas hospital 

 
 
The Lake Clinic (TLC) 
Founded in 2007, The Lake Clinic (TLC) takes medical care and health 
education by boat to nine villages located in remote and isolated regions of 
the Tonlé Sap Lake area, reaching some of the poorest and most vulnerable 
communities in the country.  Over time, the project has grown to include the 
TLC main vessel plus five floating clinics and a small fleet of boats to get 
Doctors and Nurses out to remote places.  Each village is visited once per 
month unless water levels are so low that boats cannot reach them.  The 
teams each spend two nights and three days on the lake per week.  Action is 
taken to mitigate preventable illnesses through early diagnosis of disease, treatment on an outpatient basis or 
referral to hospital in Siem Reap (with travel assistance if necessary – fuel for the round trip is US$50 which is 
out of the reach for people who earn, on average, $2.50 a day).  The teams also visit families at home to provide 
health and sanitation checks. 
 
This year, they helped approximately 36,000 people.  Many of the beneficiaries live in floating homes or homes 
on stilts upon the lake and are vulnerable to the caprice of weather and water levels – as a result, the villages 
move around and are sometimes incredibly difficult for TLC’s medical team to reach.  Without TLC, the nearest 
healthcare facility can be several days’ journey by boat.  
 
Living on the lake poses specific problems, for example, the rate of malnutrition in Cambodia is 32% but 59% of 
lake dwellers are malnourished.  There is little access to education or government support programmes and 
unsurprisingly, disease, needless disability and premature death are rife.   
 
IMPACT UK’s support for TLC contributed to the following: 

 
 

2019-20 Activities Achievement 
General health clinics held in villages 388 

Cases seen in clinics 14,638 

People benefiting from dental clinics 1,309 

Women (and babies) receiving antenatal care 387 

People provided with advice on birth spacing 201 

Vaccinations for mothers and infants 1,890 

People empowered with health education 14,569 

Home visits by the medical team to vulnerable families 45 

Children who have been measured and monitored for growth and development 2,092 

Members of Mothers’ Clubs established to support and empower women 675 

Students who had their health checked in school visits 1,343 

Water filters provided to families to make lake water safe to use 946 

Floating gardens established to feed families and reduce malnutrition 681 

“The floating villages are 
perpetually stuck in a cycle of 
generational poverty and 
preventable illness”  
(Madie Njos, TLC) 
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Improving dental hygiene “Dental education on the 
lake is severely lacking - most parents don't believe in 
having their children brush their baby teeth because 

"they're going to fall out anyway." TLC works to educate families on 
the importance of learning good dental hygiene young in order to 
form good habits and prevent extractions in life. Each visit by our 
outreach team now includes providing each person with a 
toothbrush and toothpaste and a quick lesson on how to properly 
brush their teeth.”- TLC 

 
Pilot Mental Health Project 
IMPACT UK has played a contributing role in the development of a pilot mental health project, which has been 
attached to TLC’s services this year.  Two members of the TLC medical team have been working with a 
professional psychotherapist based in East Sussex and have been providing counselling care to 18 people on the 
lake who are experiencing depression, anxiety and other mental health disorders.  The team members travel to 
patients’ own homes and work with them there on a one-to-one basis.  One part of this project is holding classes 
in every village to educate men about domestic violence and teach alternative ways to manage anger.  50 men 
have participated (encouragingly attendance is growing each session) and the TLC team hope that this will lead 
to a reduction in domestic violence, which is relatively common.   
 
 

India 
 

We work with three long-standing partners in India: IMPACT India Foundation, the 
PNR Society based in Bhavnagar, Gujarat State; and KEM Hospital based in Pune, 
Maharashtra State. 
 

IMPACT India Foundation 
 
In 1991, IMPACT India’s Lifeline Express hospital train became the world’s first 
modern hospital on a train.  Ever since, it has travelled India’s vast railway network, 
pulling into sidings at stations across the country to provide medical care and 
surgery to impoverished people who might otherwise remain needlessly disabled 
for life.  As the years have passed, more and more services have been added to the 
Lifeline Express’ roster to even better serve the poorest Indian people needing 
everything from sight, hearing or mobility restorative surgery to cancer screening 
and dental care. 
 
Lifeline Express hospital train: A coach to be used as a dedicated cancer care unit 
was donated by the Indian Railways in 2019. Whilst this coach was being converted 
into a hospital facility the opportunity was taken to remodel the entire train.  
Works were completed in time for project activities to resume in September 2019. 
 
Thereafter, 6 Lifeline Express projects were held at locations across India after the 
conduct of need asssessment surveys. These were at: Sahibganj District in 
Jharkhand State, Korba District in Chhattisgarh State, Forbesganj District in Bihar 
State, Prayagraj District in Uttar Pradesh State, Dhubri District in Assam State and 
Gumto Papumpare District in Arunachal Pradesh State. 

 
 

 
 

 

Rasmi 

  

“The vision in Phili’s left eye 
was decreasing, making it 
difficult for her to walk 
without fear of falling, or 
carry out her daily chores. She 
could not afford surgery. 
When the Lifeline Express 
arrived in her town, the 
medical team screened the 
eyes of all the people living in 
her government care home. 
Phili had her cataract 
removed several days later on 
the hospital train and her 
vision is much improved.”- 
IMPACT India  
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Disability Prevention Partnership, PNR Society, Bhavnagar District, Gujarat 
 
The PNR Society is a coalition of organisations, and together, forms the largest body for disabled people in India.  
Due to its unique set-up, the PNR Society’s work is varied, but support from IMPACT assists its disability 
prevention programme, encompassing blindness and deafness prevention, and surgical work to restore sight and 
mobility.  We have also provided support to the AT&T Technology Park, which is organised by the PNR Society to 
provide vocational training for students with a variety of disabling conditions.  Courses cover many aspects of IT, 
giving the graduates vital skills to secure employment or set up their own businesses.  In addition to a grant for 
the AT&T Technology Park, we have also provided general funds which the PNR Society invested in achieving the 
outputs outlined on page 16. 

 

Vocational training for people with disabilities Jyotsana Rathos 
is 23 years old and lives in Ingorala village, Amreli district.  She is 3.5 feet tall, 
due to a severe hunch in her back.  Jyotsana has completed her Master of 

Arts degree in Politics and wishes to obtain a government job or work in a college. 
However in order to do this, she needs good knowledge of using computers.  Her 
family could not afford the extra-curricular training she needed. However, when she 
learned that there was a free computer course at the AT&T Technology Park, she 
enrolled immediately and is now studying hard in order to pursue her dream job. 

2019-20 Activities Achievement 
Project areas visited 6 

People examined for sight, hearing, orthopaedic, dental, heart, neurological, cancer and general 
health conditions (and treatment provided as necessary) 

33,591 

Operations provided to restore sight, hearing or mobility, or to repair cleft lip or another condition 4,120 

People provided with assistive devices such as hearing aids, spectacles, callipers and prosthetic 
limbs 

7,865 

Health and medical professionals who have benefited from training 1,138 

People who have participated in health education sessions 2,660 

Kajal 

28 years ago, the Lifeline Express hospital train set off from Khalari Station in Bihar – the start 

of IMPACT’s mission to take medical care and surgery to poor and underserved men, women and 
children across rural India. Today, India’s state healthcare system remains largely focussed on 
serving urban areas, and the services of the hospital train are needed now more than ever.  

https://www.facebook.com/hashtag/lifelineexpress?__eep__=6&epa=HASHTAG
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* A paediatric ophthalmic surgery camp scheduled for March 2020 had to be postponed due to the Covid-19 
pandemic lockdown.  The lockdown also prevented 13 students from completing their course at the AT&T 
Technology Park. 
 

 
 

Disability Prevention Partnership, KEM Research Hospital, Pune, Maharashtra 
 
Our long-standing partners at the KEM Research Hospital provide a package of activities designed to improve the 
health and wellbeing of people living in villages of Ambegaon, Junnar and Rajgurunagar blocks of Pune district.  
During 2019-20, a population of 13,000 people in 2,600 households has been covered. The villages chosen are 
among the poorest and least served in the area and are home to ‘tribal’ communities who are often excluded, 
ignored and on the fringes of mainstream society. Six of these villages have been chosen to become model 
villages to showcase to others what can be achieved. 

 

 
 

2019-20 Activities Target Achievement 

Children tested for sight and hearing impairments in schools 300,000 326,041 

Sight* and hearing restored to children through surgery 175 179 

Cataract operations provided to adults 350 600 

Mobility-restoring operations No target 39 

   
   

Students with physical or learning disabilities who undertook vocational courses, 
such as computing, at the AT&T Technology Park* 

150 137 

2019-20 Activities Target Achievement 

Population covered 13,000 13,000 

Number of Households covered 2,600 2,600 

Local Angadwadi (nursery school’s for children aged 0-6) workers, ‘barefoot 
doctors’ and health workers trained on the detection of disability and general 
health issues 

340 340 

Children aged 0-6 years screened for disabling conditions and given medical care 1,500 1,532 

People empowered with knowledge at community health awareness raising 
sessions covering, for example, pre and post natal care, adolescent health, 
geriatric health etc. 

7,800 8,550 

General health clinics held 15 15 

People examined and treated at general health clinics 750 816 

People benefiting from healthcare provided by a Barefoot Doctor 5,000 5,023 

People learning about nutrition at special learning sessions in order to improve 
their families’ diets and reduce malnutrition 

450 493 

People benefiting from learning and eating produce from 6 demonstration 
community gardens (one per model village) 

2,000 2,342 

Home gardens set up in response to demonstration community gardens 400 518 

People benefiting from home gardens 2,000 2,071 

Village committees established to empower local people and give them a forum 
to express their needs and have a say in future project development 

30 30 

Individual members of village committees given a voice on behalf of their 
community 

360 360 

People represented by village committees 10,000 10,062 
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Barefoot Doctors, like Mrs Kunda, work 

in rural villages. Their training covers basic 
medical and paramedical care, including 

preventative healthcare; identification and treatment 
of minor ailments (such as anaemia, hypertension, 
URTI and diarrhoea); maternal and child health; 
nutrition awareness; usage and dosage of basic 
equipment and medicines, including how to take blood 
pressure readings and use a glucometer.  Support and 
supervision is never far away, with monthly clinics 
staged by KEM doctors in each village, thus a referral 
system is in place.  “Through my work my position in 
the community is much improved. People look up to 
me and come and ask me for advice. Most of all I am 
able to help people with health problems.” – Mrs 
Kunda  

 
 

Nepal 
 

We support IMPACT Nepal to implement a wide-ranging number of disability prevention initiatives.  Their 
programme includes the community-based delivery of ear care, maternity care and action to reduce 
malnutrition in a number of districts, along with mobile surgical camps to restore hearing and mobility in rural 
locations across the country.  IMPACT Nepal also runs several specialist centres to manage – and reverse where 
possible – Ear, Nose and Throat and orthopaedic conditions.  
  

Vitamin A deficiency is the leading cause of preventable blindness in children. It also 
increases the risk of severe illness and death from common infections. IMPACT Nepal’s 
fieldworkers dispense Vitamin A supplements to children at risk from malnutrition in rural areas. 
IMPACT’s longer-term solutions include supporting families to grow their own vegetables and 
promoting wider understanding of the link between diet and health. 
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NB. Some of the activities planned for the end of the 
year had to be postponed due to the Covid-19 
coronavirus pandemic. 
 

Additional achievements…IMPACT UK’s support has 
also: 
 

 Installed a borehole to provide a safe water source 
at IMPACT Nepal’s dedicated Community Ear 
Centre (hospital) in Birgunj which is benefiting 
more than 15,000 people a year. 

 In Auraiya district, 150 families received ongoing 
assistance to grow vegetables and 113 families 
reaped the benefits of small livestock and training 
in animal husbandry.  10 Mothers’ Clubs were set 
up, each with a revolving loan scheme to enable 
women to start small businesses. 491 post-partum 
women and 1,751 children were given 
micronutrient supplements and anti-parasitic drugs 
to quickly boost their nutritional status.  

 Provided laying chickens to 40 families to improve 
diets and generate income  

2019-20 Activities Target Achievement 
Primary health care workers, ear assistants and rehabilitation technicians trained* 4 0 

Community field workers trained* 1 0 

Female community health volunteers trained 72 72 

Health centres / health posts upgraded* 4 0 

Adults received screening and treatment services 9,879 11,982 

Children aged 0-16 years received screening and treatment services 1,221 4,595 

Ear surgical camps held in remote locations 5 5 

Orthopaedic surgical camps held in remote locations 1 1 

Adults benefitted from hearing-restoring surgery through mobile camps or at 
hospital 

1,071 871 

Children aged 0-16 years benefitted from hearing-restoring surgery through 
mobile camps or at hospital 

179 371 

Adults benefitted from mobility-restoring orthopaedic surgery through mobile 
camps or at hospital  

20 32 

Children aged 6-18 years benefitted from mobility-restoring orthopaedic surgery 
through mobile camps or at hospital 

5 22 

Adults received rehabilitation support / physiotherapy 174 68 

Children aged 0-16 years received rehabilitation support / physiotherapy 6 183 

People benefitted from the provision of assistive devices such as prosthetic limbs 200 234 

People benefitted from the provision of hearing aids 40 79 

Women provided with ante and postnatal care 2,000 1,719 

Women empowered with knowledge to motivate them to take up immunisation 
for themselves and their 0-5 year old children 

1,000 2,231 

Pregnant women / new mothers received iron supplements 2,000 1,804 

Children aged 0-7 years received Vitamin A supplements to protect their vision 
and de-worming tablets 

7,000 4,426 

Women received de-worming tablets 1,000 423 

People reached through a health awareness radio programme 50,000 53,000 

People reached through health awareness raising in the community 6,000 7,890 

Home gardens established to feed families and ameliorate malnutrition 2,200 2,400 

in Kathmandu make bespoke devices for 200+ men, 
women and children each year – restoring independence 
to the poorest people at low or no cost. The Centre's 
physiotherapists also help people with injury, illness or 
disability to regain movement and manage pain. 

Technicians at IMPACT Nepal’s                     
Orthotic and Prosthetic Centre  
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Pakistan 
 
 

IMPACT Pakistan’s 16 Mamta (Mother and Baby) Clinics provide isolated mountain 
communities in Muzaffarabad and Mansehra with their only accessible maternity 
and child healthcare.  Despite their name, the clinics also provide general primary 
healthcare to the wider community.  Each clinic is run by a fully trained Female 
Health Volunteer, with regular visits (at least once a month) from a General 
Practitioner.  Any conditions that cannot be managed at the clinics are referred to 
hospitals and health posts in the region for further treatment.   
 
The clinics were established in this remote area in the aftermath of the devastating 
Kashmiri earthquake in 2005, which killed more than 86,000 people. 
 
 
 

 
 

2019-20 Activities Target Achievement 

Women received antenatal care 3,200 3,313 

Women and their babies attended for 
postnatal checks and care 

1,280 1,028 

Babies delivered at a Mamta Clinic 860 737 

Babies delivered at home assisted by a 
trained Female Health Volunteer 

60 12 

Pregnant women experiencing complications 
who were referred to a hospital to give birth 

No target 35 

Men, women and children who benefited 
from general primary healthcare at the 
clinics 

8,000 10,828 

Health education sessions run 22 7 

People who attended health education 
sessions 

500 251 

Local health workers who underwent 
contuinuing professional training to keep 
their skills up-to-date 

64 62 

  

When Lazi approached her 
due date, she was anxious. 
She had delivered at home 
twice before, and both 
babies died immediately 
after birth. As Lazi reached 
full term, she prepared to 
have her baby at home for 
the third time. A little 
before midnight, Lazi went 
into labour and began to 
face some difficulties. A 
family friend helped take 
Lazi to one of IMPACT’s 
Mamta clinics, where she 
gave birth to a healthy 
baby girl. Lazi said, “I have 
lost two of my babies at 
home deliveries, but now I 
am very thankful to 
IMPACT Pakistan, who 
helped me deliver my baby 
daughter safely.”  

 

Baldev is a farmer who attended one of IMPACT Nepal’s village ENT screening 
camps, which is where he heard about IMPACT’s ear treatment centre and its 
services.  Baldev had impaired hearing and communicated by physical gestures. 
People made fun of him for being deaf, which was upsetting to him and his 
family.  IMPACT Nepal’s audiologist undertook a Pure Tone Audiogram test to 
diagnose his hearing capacity, which was very poor. He was then fitted with a 
hearing aid at a subsidised rate. Baldev reports that his life has changed 
dramatically for the better now that he can hear, and that people’s behaviour to 
him has improved.  When he received his hearing aid, Baldev smiled broadly and 
said “Yes, I can hear now, I can hear now!” 
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Sri Lanka 
 
 

 

IMPACT supports a community clinic in Weerawila, southern Sri Lanka, 
which we set up after the devastating Indian ocean tsunami in 2004.  
Run by a local doctor, the clinic provides men, women and children 
living in this rural area with vital access to primary healthcare and 
treatment for conditions such as respiratory diseases, diabetes and viral 
fever. 
 
During FY19-20, IMPACT UK merged with a British charity called 
Eyessee, which is continuing to deliver vital eye care and medical 
equipment in Sri Lanka and elsewhere, under our auspices.  The Eyessee 
team, led by IMPACT Trustee and consultant ophthalmologist Mr Sal 
Rassam, visited the Samanala Valley Clinic, Sri Lanka, in January 2020 to 
provide screening services, treat glaucoma and infections, prescribe 
glasses and conduct laser treatment and eye surgery.  The clinic is 
located in the middle of tea plantations atop a mountain range.  It is an 
isolated area with poor transport links and poverty levels are high.  
Visual loss is common due to the increased exposure to sunlight at high 
altitudes. 
 

 
 

 
 

 A successful eye surgical camp 

“As I do regularly, I went to Sri Lanka in 
January 2020 with my team of two nurses 

to conduct surgery on patients already screened 
for us by a local resident optician.  We operated 
on 73 patients. Several other patients received 
medical treatments for infections and glaucoma. A 
lot of our supplies have been donated by NHS and 
private clinics, with a major contribution from 
Rayner Intraocular Lenses Ltd, who have donated 
over 2,000 intraocular lenses to the centre.  This 
generous supply will continue to be used in vision 
correction surgery in the months to come by local 
and international surgeons.” - Sal Rassam, IMPACT 
Trustee and consultant ophthalmologist 

2019-20 Activities Achievement 

People receiving primary healthcare at Weerawila Clinic:  

 Men 1,080 

 Women 1,471 

 Children aged 0-16 years 920 

Eye care clinic at Samanala Valley Clinic:  

People receiving surgery to improve their sight 73 

People undergoing laser treatment to improve their sight 3 

 
Sri Lanka has no welfare state and 
the poorest people typically work 
long into older age.  Mr N lost his job 
as a gardener when his vision 
diminished due to cataracts and his 
family lost their only source of 
income as a result. Mr N had the sight 
in his left eye restored at the January 
eye surgical camp, and can see well 
enough to have returned to work. His 
right eye will be treated when the 
surgical team return.  
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Africa: Kenya 
 

Our local partner in Kenya, IMPACT East Africa, implements community-based action to improve health and 
prevent needless disability in Mwingi – a large town in Kitui County, in the former Eastern Province – and its 
environs.  
 
Working with schools and health providers in the vicinity, the project is led by IEA’s local team of a 
nurse/midwife, ENT clinical officer and eye clinical officer who deliver much-needed primary healthcare to the 
community.  Water, sanitation and hygiene is a key part of the project in this semi-arid area which only sees 
rainfall during the two rainy seasons each year. 

 

 

 
* Unfortunately, the Covid-19 pandemic and national lockdown happened just as the drilling rig was due to leave 
Nairobi for Mwingi.   The boreholes will be drilled as soon as it is safe to do so. 
 

 
 
 

2019-20 Activities Target Achievement 
Pit latrines (segregated into boys/girls) and handwashing stations installed in 
schools along with hygiene and sanitation education (benefiting 2,800 
people) 

8 8 

Boreholes for safe water* 4 0 

First Aid Kits provided to schools 32 20 

Teachers and students trained as school health monitors 704 385 

Children checked and de-wormed by school health monitors 11,200 8,838 

Children received primary care and /or referral for specialist treatment to 
IMPACT’s health team or a Government facility 

2,520 4,434 

People undergoing surgery to restore their sight or hearing 115 137 

People screened at mobile eye and ENT clinics 1,320 1,090 

Women receive ante and postnatal care 300 159 

Mothers and babies immunised against common infectious diseases 200 240 (36 mothers 

and 204 babies) 
Mothers’ Clubs established to empower women with health information 2 1 

School or home vegetable plots established to grow fresh fruit and 
vegetables to reduce malnutrition 

4 65 

Trees planted in schools and the community 2,000 500 

“I am the mother of seven children. I am also the chair of the IMPACT 
Mothers’ club at Tuvaani.  Before the IMPACT team introduced various 
projects at our village, life was difficult. Now we are all growing green 
leafy vegetables, building home toilets and immunising our children 
(including older children who need to catch up with the national 
schedule).  I also sell some vegetables and use the money to buy eggs for 
my children. I feel so economically empowered and, I am no longer 
dependent on my husband who is a casual labourer. The hygienic 
conditions in the whole community have also improved because of the 
health education sessions conducted by IMPACT’s nurse Mildred and that 
is why I decided to name my new baby Mildred, so that anytime I look at 
her she will always remind me of my journey to a bright future that was 
ignited by IMPACT!” – Jane (pictured with Nurse Mildred) 
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Additional achievements…IMPACT UK’s support has also: 

 
 Installed seven rainwater harvesting systems at schools in Mwingi benefiting 2,450 people.  These 

capture rainfall and store it for use during dry periods.  They enable schools to promote hand washing, 
cook food, grow vegetables and damp down dusty floors to reduce the risk of respiratory irritation. 

 Purchased a new vehicle to enable safer and quicker journeys to project areas. 

 Established a referral system with the School of Deaf Children in Kitui to enable hearing impaired 
children to receive audiology tests and hearing aids 

 

Uvati Primary School is one of eight schools 

to have benefited from new school latrines and 
handwashing stations this year. In the background 

can be see the old facility, which had no walls and an open 
pit, which was a huge safety concern. Pupils preferred to 
relieve themselves in the bush and it was not uncommon 
for girls to skip school during their period. Now boys and 
girls have privacy and thanks to regular visits from 
IMPACT’s school health team, they understand the 
importance of regularly washing their hands. The 
headteacher reports that the project has had a ripple 
effect in the local community, with many parents now 
seeking to install latrines in their homes too.  
 

 
 

Tanzania (Ethiopia & South Sudan) 
IMPACT supports our trusted partner Maternity Africa, a local organisation in Arusha, dedicated to making 
motherhood safer for women and their babies.  In addition to training local midwives to deliver safe and caring 
support, and providing a clean, well-equipped hospital environment in which to deliver, Maternity Africa 
restores to health and dignity women who have suffered birth injuries during long and obstructed labours.  
Many are still grieving stillborn babies or have been cast out by family, and some have lived with the pain and 
incontinence caused for years.   
 
Action takes place at Maternity Africa’s specialist Kivulini hospital, which also acts as a referral centre for other 
hospitals in the area, who can send women and babies needing advanced medical care to it.  Outreach teams 
travel to remote rural communities to empower women with knowledge about birth injuries and encourage 
women living with these conditions (which are often hidden away out of shame) to seek help at Kivulini. 
 
This year, we have also been able to provide support to Maternity Africa’s partner hospitals which are treating 
women affected by birth injuries in Afar, Ethiopia, and in Juba, South Sudan.   
 
 IMPACT UK has supported Maternity Africa with funds to provide: 

 
* a further surgical camp in March 2020 had to be postponed due to the Covid-19 pandemic.  This will take place 
as soon as it is safe to do so. 

2019-20 Activities Achievement 

Birth injury operations to women at Kivulini hospital, Tanzania 23 women 

Fistula surgical sets for use at a new clinic in Juba, South Sudan 2 sets 

Birth injury operations for women at Mille hospital, Afar, Ethiopia 9 women* 
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Zanzibar 
 
IMPACT Zanzibar delivers a broad-range of health and medical care 
initiatives from its base - the ENT department at Mnazi Moja hospital in 
Stone Town – but which are actively taken into remote communities 
across the two main islands of Zanzibar in order to reach the most 
vulnerable and excluded people.   
 
Measures to tackle needless disability encompass a school-based health 
care programme of training school health monitors to check students 
with follow up by IZ’s medical team, maternal and early childhood 
healthcare, safe water, ear and hearing care as well as mobile medical 
camps with the help of volunteer surgeons. IZ also runs a specialist 
school for young children with very severe hearing loss.  These children 
would not be able to attend mainstream primary schools and are too 
often kept at home with little stimulus or learning.
 

 

 

2019-20 Activities Target Achievement 
Babies screened for signs of hearing impairment as part of a neonatal screening 
programme 

4,400 5,137 

Children screened and treated at the ENT outpatients clinics of Mnazi Moja 
hospital 

2,160 3,090 

Primary schools benefiting from the school health project (during which 86,779 
children were checked by School Health Monitors trained through this project) 

210 246 

Children identified through the School Health Project receiving specialist 
treatment for ear disease 

480 714 

Children receiving hearing aids and batteries 150 439 

Parents and hearing impaired children attending sign language and speech 
therapy sessions 

50 101 

Mobile outreach clinics held in remote villages (during which 12,008 people 
were screened and received treatment as necessary) 

40 37 

People benefiting from surgery (ENT, eye, obstetrics/gynaecology, orthopaedic 
or general) 

365 716 

“I had my first pregnancy when I was 16.  I started experiencing labour pains three 
months before my due time.  One day I felt like the baby was close and I started to 
push, but nothing happened. I was taken to the district hospital because my 
condition was not good.  There they told me my baby was dead.  I was in shock and 
in a lot of pain.  I was still at the hospital when I started leaking urine and I was 
discharged with the condition [obstetric fistula]. My husband started treating me 
badly when I came home. Even the neighbours did not want anything to do with 
me.  One day somebody told me about Maternity Africa’s Kivulini Maternity 
Centre.  There I met other women with a condition like mine. People were very 
loving and caring. I stayed for one week before the operation and afterwards. I 
used a catheter which was removed after a week.  I could not believe it at first that 
I had been treated for obstetric fistula!  Now I will create awareness to other 
women with the same condition and encourage them not to hide or be afraid. “ 

 
'“We students are very happy and 
grateful because now we have a 
water tank and clean water right next 
to our school.  Before we had no 
water supply and had to depend on 
travelling to neighbours’ houses.  
Thank you for all this, we are very 
happy!” 
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Additional achievements…IMPACT UK’s support has also: 

 
 Installed a community well to provide safe drinking water for households living around it.  This was one 

of 10 tanks provided by IMPACT Zanzibar this year.   

 Renovated the ZOP Academy and provided running costs for one year.  This special school takes very 
young children with serious hearing impairments and provides basic schooling with additional classes in 
sign language, lip reading and more.  Many of the children who attend would be kept at home and have 
no schooling without it. 

 Trained 105 nurses and 15 doctors in early years ENT screening to detect hearing impairment in very 
young children before it hinders their development 

 Distributed 331 pairs of spectacles to children with impaired vision 

 A hardship fund helped 404 of the most impoverished children requiring surgery with the associated 
costs (travel and food costs etc. for family accompanying them). 

 
 

A quality education for disabled 
children IMPACT Zanzibar has been running 

a school for deaf children since 2009. It 
provides quality education, speech therapy and sign 
language to children with hearing impairments, most 
of whom would not go to school if it did not exist.  
Many of the children have complex needs. The school 
has gone from strength-to-strength over the past 
decade and has recently relocated to new premises 
just outside of Stone Town. The challenge for 2020/21 
is ensuring that children are reached young enough to 
make a real difference.  

 
 
 

 

Operations to restore 
hearing  Children who have 
been identified through the 

screening elements of IMPACT Zanzibar’s 
programme as requiring surgical treatment 
or specialist ENT care are treated at 
quarterly ear surgery camps. ENT conditions 
treatable through surgery include perforated 
eardrums cause by untreated infections; 
chronic tonsillitis; and enlarged adenoids. 
This surgical programme is supported by 
international IMPACT volunteers from Nepal 
and Kenya, as well as Chinese medical teams 
on a state-run exchange programme.  
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United Kingdom  
 

The link between obesity and poor health in later life is well known and the IMPACT Tasty Team aims to directly 
address the causes of obesity and other diet related diseases, such as type 2 diabetes, by equipping vulnerable 
local residents with the skills and confidence to cook healthy meals from scratch on a budget.  With even slightly 
overweight people twice as likely to suffer from type 2 diabetes and deaths from heart and circulatory disease 
on the rise for the first time in 50 years, our work is as relevant today as it was 15 years ago when the Tasty 
Team was first established. We collaborate with local schools and organisations in West Sussex such as children 
and family centres, local charitable organisations and social enterprises, helping those that are the most 
disadvantaged to improve their diet and wellbeing. 
  
The Tasty Team programme is designed to ensure that participants acquire lifelong skills, they all learn practical 
cooking skills and are guided through eating a healthy, well-balanced diet, budgeting and weekly meal planning.  
We also focus on how to reduce food waste ensuring that knowledge is shared about how to use leftovers and 
store food safely.  Many of our participants are regular users of local foodbanks and may have mental health 
issues.  The focus is on changing habits, bringing life skills to groups within the community and encouraging them 
to think about food for the next generation.  Over the past year, 748 children and 261 adults have engaged with 
our programmes. We have a team of 10 Tasty Team volunteers, but a large part of the work that we do today 
involves partnering with other community organisations, enabling them to deliver their own cooking 
programmes directly to the people that they help.  We have expanded this network over the past 12 months to 
include youth groups, football clubs, schools, nurseries and clubs for people with disabilities. 
 

 
 

IMPACT UK’s Tasty Team 
(recognised with the Queen’s Award for 
Voluntary Service) promotes healthy 
eating in Sussex.  Our volunteers work in 

schools, children and family centres, and with young 
mothers to share knowledge about healthy nutrition 
and teach cooking, food safety and budgeting skills.  
 

  

2019-20 Activities Achievement 
Individual and Group ‘Get Cooking’ Sessions 153 sessions 

School Tasty Sessions 24 sessions 

Demonstrations 2 demonstrations 

Volunteer and Community Partner Training Days 3 days 

Adults participating 261 adults 

Children participating 748 children 
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International 
 

Advocacy  
IMPACT works at the national and international 
level in partnership with many other 
governmental and civil society organisations, 
with the corporate sector and with community 
service organisations such as Rotary, Inner 
Wheel and Lions. We are members of Vision 
2020/International Agency for the Prevention of 
Blindness, Sound Hearing 2030, Global Club 
Foot Initiative, Walk for Life and World Hearing 
Forum.  We support, and are a member of, the 
Fundraising Regulator, and several staff are 
members of the Institute of Fundraising; both 
organisations are designed to promote ethical 
standards and good practice in fundraising. 
 
Our philosophy is shared with our many 
partners around the world through the 
International Federation of IMPACT 
Organisations and in practice through our 
working culture.  We encourage our local 
partners (which are autonomous organisations 
in their own countries) to work with other NGOs and to collaborate with relevant stakeholders to influence 
policy on a local and national scale.  Individuals from IMPACT Foundations are often asked to speak at 
professional conferences.   
 
However, it is at the grass-roots level that our advocacy work makes the most impact; changing the attitudes and 
behaviours of thousands of impoverished people by providing information and skills to enable them to better 
protect their families from needless disability and ill-health.  In turn, they become our best advocates – sharing 
knowledge with their neighbours and spreading the word about IMPACT so those who need us can make use of 
our services. 

 

Accessibility  
IMPACT is committed to equality and the creation of a barrier-free environment for all in accordance with British 
legislation (the Human Rights Act 1998, the Equality Act 2010) and international treaty obligations (the UN 
Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities).   We work hard to reduce the obstacles that people with 
disabilities face by empowering them to fulfil their potential through training and education and providing 
assistive devices such as hearing aids, spectacles and prosthetic limbs to overcome physical limitations. 
 
Disability is a human rights issue. The 17 ‘Sustainable Development Goals’ (SDGs) were adopted in September 
2015 to shape the post-Millennium Development Goals (MDGs 2000-2015) international development 
framework.  People with disabilities are specifically referenced in five of the SDGs which is an important 
milestone, since disability was conspicuous by its absence in the MDGs.   
 

Training and capacity building 
IMPACT believes strongly in the power of education and training to create long-term beneficial change.  We 
support people to develop skills and gain knowledge that enables them to deal with the challenges they, and 
their communities, face.  For example, we train and equip village-based traditional birth attendants to meet 
women’s need for care during pregnancy, birth and in the post-natal period.  This is keeping mothers and babies 
safe in many of our project areas.  We also train general health workers, ear care workers, teachers, nutrition 

Representatives of the International Federation of IMPACT 
Organisations (IFIO) meet every two to three years to share 
good practice and develop new projects. The 2019 IFIO 
conference was held in Mumbai and attended by members 
from Africa, Asia and Europe. 
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volunteers, and specialists such as nurses and surgeons – 3,875 of them in total this year.  All are local people 
with roots in project locations who will make huge contributions to their communities as a result. 
  
People with sound knowledge are empowered to take action to help themselves so we have provided health 
education to 286,355 men, women and children during 2019-20.  Learning that unsafe water contains bacteria 
which make your children sick, or that eating vegetables containing Vitamin A can prevent a common cause of 
blindness, is a powerful motivator and we help people to make straightforward behavioural changes based on 
this new knowledge by providing safe water sources and toilets, or distributing tools, seeds and support.  
 
IMPACT is keenly aware of the risk of creating dependence on aid but by providing training, education and 
equipment to the communities where we work, we are fostering self-reliance – providing a hand up rather than 
a hand out. 

 
Safeguarding  
 
IMPACT takes the safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults extremely seriously both at home in the UK and 
in all the countries where we work.  IMPACT is committed to ensuring safeguarding practice reflects statutory 
responsibilities, government guidance and complies with best practice and requirements of the Charity 
Commission.  Our policies are regularly reviewed by IMPACT’s senior management team and board of Trustees.  
Every member of IMPACT UK staff regularly undergoes a Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check and we have 
‘whistleblowing’ structures in place, should these be needed by staff or volunteers.  
 
Here in the UK, our Tasty Team project works in primary schools and with vulnerable adults and children in our 
local community.   Each of our volunteers is carefully vetted, undergoes a Disclosure and Barring Service check, 
receives full training and careful monitoring, and signs up to a raft of policies including Child Protection; Code of 
Behaviour for Working with Children and Vulnerable Adults; Lone Worker; and Safeguarding Adults. They are 
regularly reminded of their responsibilities under these policies. 
 
Our partners overseas are all autonomous organisations but we share safeguarding policies and best practice 
with them.  Each partner complies with safeguarding rules in their own country.   
 
 

 
Traditional Birth Attendants   
50 year old Konoklota has been working as 
a Traditional Birth Attendant (TBA) in her 

village of Daliapur, Chuadanga, for 20 years.  As a 
young woman, she witnessed a close relative die 
from delivery-related complications which spurred 
her on to become a TBA.  Over two decades she 
has delivered about 100 babies but still jumped at 
the chance to receive proper training from IMPACT 
Bangladesh.  She said “The conception of ‘pregnant 
mother and their care’ has changed a lot, what we 
learnt from our grandmothers, there is no use of 
those nowadays…After receiving training from 
IMPACT, I was able to learn clearly the danger signs 
of pregnancy, importance of regular check-ups, avoid heavy lifting, take adequate rest and TT [tetanus toxoid] 
vaccine.  Now I am more confident to advise my areas’ pregnant and neo-mothers”.  
 



 

28 

Looking to the Future    
 
IMPACT has many aspirations and continues to raise vital voluntary contributions from the public, charitable 
trusts and businesses.  As resources become available we hope to: 
 

 Train even more nurses at the IMPACT Bangladesh Nursing 

Institute to meet the huge need for this profession locally 

 Provide additional specialist operations including fistula 

surgery for women in Ethiopia and hydrocephalus surgery for 

children in Bangladesh 

 Purchase the building which houses the ZOP Academy for 

hearing impaired children in Zanzibar and provide running 

costs to safeguard its future 

 Purchase an ultrasonogram machine, a portable ultrasound 

machine and essential items such as weighing scales and 

tape measures for monitoring pregnant women and 

newborn babies in Bangladesh 

 Provide further support for the award-winning Lifeline Express hospital train in India 

 More eye surgical camps in Sri Lanka  

 Construct and equip a dedicated delivery room at Rohat Teuk Health Centre in Banteay Meanchey province, 

and provide medical equipment and training for health workers at Banlung Referral Hospital in Ratanakiri 

province, Cambodia 

 Extend the Auraiya nutrition project in Nepal by piloting a menstrual hygiene element, and expand the 

menstrual hygiene in schools work that has been successfully trialled in Chuadanga district, Bangladesh 

 Provide additional bio-sand water filters for families in floating villages of the Tonlé Sap Lake, and further 

support for The Lake Clinic (TLC) which serves these vulnerable communities with primary healthcare, 

Cambodia 

 Continue our support for the PNR Society’s child blindness and deafness programme and vocational training 

for people with disabilities at the AT&T Technology Park, both in Bhavnagar, India 

To achieve the above, we will: 

 Work hard to secure unrestricted funds, which will enable us to expand our programme  

 Continue to identify projects which meet donors’ needs 

 Continue to improve the way we collect and analyse data for routine monitoring and reporting as well as 

identify ways to demonstrate our impact and lessons learnt          

 Support the exchange of information, experiences and good practice, including visits between partners  

 Share innovative ideas and encourage innovation in programmes where possible 

And much more as opportunities arise. 

IMPACT Nepal hopes to expand its successful 
nutrition project in Auraiya   
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Financial review and policies 
 
 

 We generated incoming resources of £1,712,856 (up 18.3% on last 
year) 

 Income from gifts of £5,000 or more: £1,251,980 (up 7.6% on last 
year)  

 Legacies: £73,667 (down 59.6% on last year) 

 Gift Aided donations: £258,989 (up 78.9% on last year) 

 Gifts in Kind: £108,000 (down 23% on last year) 

 We expended £1,752,354 (up 16.9% on last year) 
 

We start each year with the goal of generating at least £1.5 million of 
incoming resources to drive our programme of international action 
to prevent and treat needless disability for some of the most 
vulnerable people in our world.  This amount enables us to meet the 
commitments we have made to international project partners for 
ongoing work, and more besides for new initiatives or partners, pilot 
projects and the emergency situations that sometimes arise and to 
which we can respond rapidly.  It also makes our ‘Tasty Team’ 
project possible, here at home in the UK.   During 2019/20, income 
was £1,712,856, 14.2% above our target.  This was in no small part 
due to the successful 20th Anniversary matched funding appeal for 
the Jibon Tari floating hospital in Bangladesh which galvanised our 
generous supporters and surpassed all expectations.   
 
IMPACT UK has a very lean team with a small, but highly effective, fundraising operation.  In 2019/20, we 
generated £18.68 in income for every £1 that was expended on raising funds.  Fundratios 2015 – the charity 
benchmarking study – reported that the median return on investment for the 17 charities surveyed was just 
£4.50 for every £1 spent in 2014 which is the last year it was run.   
 
Our fundraising is both successful and cost-effective.  We never buy mailing lists, or outsource mailings and 
appeal fulfilment to third party companies, and we take our responsibilities under data protection legislation 
such as the GDPR very seriously.  Print and design is only ever outsourced to carefully selected local suppliers 
where it is more cost-effective than doing it ‘in-house’.  We know that our supporters entrust their gifts to us 
because the maximum possible will be invested in our charitable activities in Africa, Asia and the UK – 92% for 
every £1 expended this year was used for this purpose.  The remaining 8% was split between our effective 
fundraising which powers the projects (5%) and essential Governance costs (3%) which ensure the Foundation is 
well run and meets legal obligations. 
 
Of course, our small fundraising team cannot do everything on their own and we are extremely grateful to the 
volunteers who help them.  For example, IMPACT’s Supporters’ Luncheon Club has remained steadfast in its 
support for more than 20 years.  This year, the ‘Lunch Club’ generated income of £24,840 (FY18/19 £25,774) 
during its monthly lunches which host interesting speakers and are also good fun!  Many members give 
generous donations on top of their membership subscription and provide support in other ways, such as 
promoting IMPACT to their network of contacts or sitting on our Board of Trustees.  Funds were used to provide 
safe water in Kenya. 
 
We are thankful for the continuing support of Rotary Clubs in Great Britain and Ireland who have donated 
£7,824 this year (£6,150 FY 18/19). 
 
In an on-going low interest rate environment, making returns on investment while maintaining a low risk 
strategy remains challenging.  Income from investments was £25,655 this year and was down 60.8% on the 
previous year (FY18/19 £65,423) which included profit of £44,419 made on the sale of a property gifted to the 

20 years of the floating hospital  
In April 2019 we marked the 20th 
anniversary of IMPACT’s floating hospital 
in Bangladesh with a special fundraising 
appeal. The Jibon Tari (Boat of Life) 
travels the vast waterways of 
Bangladesh taking surgery to repair 
needlessly disabling conditions, medical 
treatment, health education and training 
for local health professionals to the 
heart of marginalised communities. 
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Foundation some years previously.  Our investment policy is regularly reviewed by our Investment Committee 
and is described in the next section.  
 
Balances on restricted and designated funds (notes 20 and 21 in the accounts) show that significant 
commitments are made towards future programme expenditure.  We pledge funding for up to three years so 
that implementing partners can plan their work and in turn avoid letting down the people who rely on the 
healthcare they deliver. Longer-term projects also allow greater depth in service delivery.  We continue to 
actively fundraise and explore new sources of income in order to meet any shortfall on specific projects and if 
restricted funds are subsequently raised and received, designated funds are released to be used 
elsewhere.  Balances are held by the Foundation on interest-bearing deposit until and whilst the project is 
implemented.  
 
Fundraising is also carried out so that we can develop the whole IMPACT programme into new geographical and 
health areas.  The need for IMPACT’s work remains great.    
 
Rigorous financial controls are in place and our cash position remains healthy.   
 
The Foundation expended £1,752,354 this year; up 16.9% on the previous year (FY18/19 £1,499,315).  92% of 
expenditure was on direct charitable activities. The table below shows expenditure by country within our 
international programme with a comparison to last year. 
 
We are fortunate to receive donations of goods and services, which help stretch our limited resources as far as 
possible.  We would like to thank Rayner Intraocular Lenses Limited for their ‘gifts in kind’ of lenses used for 
cataract surgery to the value of £108,000. These ‘IOLs’ were sent to a hospital in Cambodia which we work 
closely with, and were used by our Council Member, ophthalmologist Mr Sal Rassam, during surgical camps in Sri 
Lanka.    Thank you also to Jenny Stone CIPD, who provides Human Resources advice at no charge, and to the 
many schools and community groups that participate in our Tasty Team project in the UK. 
 

 
In order to avoid aid dependency and so that the Foundation can explore new projects, partners and 
geographical areas, we encourage and support our implementing partners to generate income for their own 
programmes of action.  Each partner is independent of IMPACT Foundation UK therefore it is not included here, 
but income is generated in imaginative ways that include rental from unused office space or spare operating 
theatre capacity, selling produce from farms, and cost-recovery from the delivery of medical care to patients 
who can afford to pay. Our services will always be free to the very poorest people, however. 
 
Thanks to a Sussex-based charitable trust gifting us our premises in the early 1990s, we have no mortgage or 
office rental costs, and this enables us to keep our running costs very low. 
 
It will be seen from the Balance Sheet that all our investments are represented by cash and short-term 
deposits.  The balance on unrestricted, non-designated reserves is £181,440. 

 

Country Amount expended on 
charitable activities (£) 

Proportion of the 
Foundation’s total 
expenditure 2019-20 

Proportion of the 
Foundation’s total 
expenditure 2018-19 

Bangladesh 375,660 21.4% 38.3% 

Cambodia 196,684 11.2% 4.4% 

India 112,056 6.4% 5.6% 

Kenya (East Africa) 249,848 14.2% 7.2% 

Nepal 76,729 4.4% 13.5% 

Pakistan 0 0% 0% 

Sri Lanka 54,000 3% 0.5% 

Tanzania 21,221 1.2% 1.8% 

Zanzibar 128,176 7.3% 3.5% 

The UK (nutrition project) 4,764 0.8% 0.2% 

International  199,211 11.4% 2.4% 
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Structure, governance & management 
 

Organisational structure 
The IMPACT Foundation is a registered charity (number 290992, July 1985) and a company without share capital 
limited by guarantee (number 1878297).  The Foundation is organised under the direction of its governing body, 
which is the Council of 18 Trustees who, for the purposes of company law, are also Directors of the Company.  
They are responsible for determining the policies and strategic direction of the IMPACT Foundation but, as there 
is no share capital, the Trustees have no interest in the IMPACT Foundation as defined by the Companies Act 
2006. 
 
The IMPACT Foundation operates in accordance with its constitutional mandate, the Articles of Association, and 
subject to relevant legislation.  We are aware of the Directors’ duties under the Companies Act 2006.    
 

Trustees and their responsibilities 
The Trustees hold meetings at least three times a year to review detailed financial and progress reports and 
discuss new project proposals.  The Trustees delegate the IMPACT Foundation’s day-to-day operations to the 
Chief Executive and the senior management team.  Other meetings by sub-committees and task forces 
appointed for specific purposes take place on a regular basis.   For example, a Staff Committee is delegated to 
consider human resource issues and remuneration.   Recognising the need to keep up with the raft of new 
regulations and employment legislation, the Trustees retain the services of a volunteer Human Resources 
Consultant.  All staff are invited to attend Trustees’ meetings.   
 
The Trustees are responsible for preparing the Trustees’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice).  They prepare accounts for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the charitable company; of the incoming resources; and of the application of resources, including the income 
and expenditure of the charitable company, for that period.   
 
In preparing those accounts the Trustees are required to: 
 

 Select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently 

 Observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP 

 Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent 

 State whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 

 Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
charitable company will continue in business  

 
The Trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy, at 
any time, the financial position of the charitable company and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
charitable company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.   
 
The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the charitable company’s website.  Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
 
In so far as the Trustees are aware: there is no relevant audit information of which the charitable company’s 
auditors are unaware; and the Trustees have taken all appropriate steps to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.   
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The Board of Trustees’ other responsibilities include: 

 Setting policy and overseeing strategic direction 

 Complying with relevant laws and regulations 

 Ensuring that charitable objects are met  

 Promoting the IMPACT Foundation’s reputation, values and integrity 

 Taking appropriate care and advice when investing money 

 Making sure charitable funds and assets are used to further IMPACT Foundation’s charitable aims and 
fulfil its public benefit duty 

 
Trustees are asked each year at the beginning of a meeting to declare any conflicts of interest.  A policy is in 
place to manage any conflicts which might arise. 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       
Trustees serving during this period are listed on page 2.  Trustees have no financial interest in the IMPACT 
Foundation and receive no remuneration for their services.  Our Governance costs this year were just £15,767 
(FY18/19: £16,465). These were kept to a minimum because our meetings are held in cost-effective venues or at 
IMPACT’s offices in Haywards Heath, and because Trustees generously pay their own travel and accommodation 
expenses. 
 
Recruitment and appointment of Trustees 
The appointment of Trustees is conducted in line with the IMPACT Foundation’s Articles of Association. Trustees 
collectively have the power to appoint any person to be a Trustee but the Board of Trustees must consist of not 
less than 12 and not more than 20 people.  The skills mix of the Board of Trustees is also considered.  As set out 
in the Articles of Association, a Trustee serves for a term of three years and is then eligible for re-election. 
 
Policies apply for the recruitment, selection, induction and training of Trustees and members of staff, all of 
whom have agreed job descriptions. 
 
We recognise the importance of providing new Trustees with sufficient information to equip them to become 
effective members of Council.  All new Trustees receive a comprehensive induction pack of background material. 
They are invited to spend time with the staff team and visit project activities.   Fellow Trustees are invited by the 
Chairman to act as mentors to new Trustees. 
 
Strategic review 
A meeting was held on 20th June 2018 to review the previous five-year strategy and plan for 2018-2023.   
 
The new strategy confirmed IMPACT’s six priority areas and set out funding goals including maintaining at least 
90% of expenditure on direct charitable activities; greater emphasis on funding new projects; and helping 
partners to contribute a greater proportion of funds themselves.  In addition, some wider goals were agreed 
including seeking new partners to work with and new countries in which to work; pursuing the possibility of 
digital initiatives to deliver our work; and greater emphasis on malnutrition, obesity and diabetes within our 
work. 
 
Progress towards meeting the objectives of the strategy is reviewed regularly by the Senior Management Team 
and discussed at Council level at least once per year. 
 
It is anticipated that the effects of the global Covid-19 coronavirus pandemic may affect delivery of the strategy 
significantly. 
 

Employees 
During FY19/20, IMPACT Foundation had a small team of just seven people (three full-time and four part-time) 
who, under the direction of the Chief Executive, assisted by the Deputy Chief Executive and Funding and 
Development Director, are responsible for the day-to-day management of the charity.  Having clearly defined 
roles enables the organisation to be run efficiently and to fulfil our core function of raising funds, supporting our 
local partners to deliver action to prevent and treat needless disability, and implementing a healthy nutrition 
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project in Sussex.  Every staff member has access to a copy of our comprehensive Employee Handbook and 
policies, which are reviewed and updated regularly and there is an ‘open door’ policy for all team members with 
the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive and Funding and Development Director to discuss everything from 
ideas for the running of the Foundation to personal development.  

 

Volunteers 
We are indebted to our dedicated volunteers who help us to make the most of our limited resources in so many 
ways.  Our sincere thanks go out to the medical volunteers from around the world (surgeons, anaesthetists, 
nurses and other specialists) who use their skills in our overseas programmes where there is a gap in local 
capacity and to the 10 people who make our Tasty Team possible by teaching basic cooking skills and sharing 
information about nutrition with adults and children in our Mid-Sussex community or stand ready to help as 
needed.  We are also hugely grateful to the people who run our successful Luncheon Club, help out in our office 
and raise funds or awareness about our work. 
 
In addition, approximately 950 local volunteers work within our projects in every country; invaluable 
contributors to our vision of a world free from needless disability. 

 
Relationships with partners 
Our 14 partner organisations in Africa, Asia and Europe (IMPACTs Norway and Switzerland) all share the same 
aim – a world free from disability.  These partners are autonomous, registered not-for-profit organisations in 
their own country whose accounts are fully audited.  Most of them are IMPACT Foundations that we have 
helped to establish.  We have long-standing and trusting relationships with all of them.   The ‘IMPACT family’ 
meets approximately every two years to exchange good practice and reaffirm our mission.  Our most recent 
International Federation of IMPACT Organisations took place in India in October 2019.   
 
The main role of IMPACT UK is to raise funds, and provide the grants, advice, technical help and other assistance 
needed to enable our partners in Africa and Asia to implement projects for the treatment and alleviation of 
needlessly disabling conditions.  We also run a nutrition programme in Sussex which is based on lessons learned 
in our partners’ projects in the developing world; and foster collaboration between IMPACT Foundations around 
the world. 
 

Data protection 
We are aware of our responsibilities under the Data Protection Act 1998 and the General Data Protection 
Regulation which came into force on 25th May 2018.  It has never been our policy to sell or exchange names and 
addresses with other organisations, or to disclose such data to a third party. We use an industry-respected 
database to store data safely.  Confidentiality agreements and normal security procedures are in place.  We keep 
Data Protection under regular review. 
 

Risk assessment 
The Charity Commission requires the Trustees to identify and review the risks faced by the IMPACT Foundation 
and this has been in place since 2001.  Because IMPACT works mainly in developing countries where working 
conditions are often challenging, the review identifies and analyses strategic, operational, regulatory, human 
resources, reputation, political and environmental risks by prioritising and setting out how to mitigate them.  
 
The risk assessment is reviewed each year by representatives of the Trustees and the Management 
team.  Council is satisfied that the appropriate systems are in place to monitor these risks and to mitigate any 
impact they may have on the charity.  Specific risks are considered throughout the year by relevant stakeholders, 
for example, the Investment Committee, Staffing Sub-Committee, Honorary Officers of the Foundation or Senior 
Management Team.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS AND TRUSTEES OF IMPACT FOUNDATION 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Impact Foundation Limited (the 'Charity') for the year ended 31st March 2020 
which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance Sheet, the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has 
been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting 
Standard 102: The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice). 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Charity's affairs as at 31st March 2020 and of its incoming resources and 
application of resources for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Charity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you 
where: 

• • the trustees use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; 
or 

• • the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant 
doubt about the Charity’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve 
months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

 

Other information 

The trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a 
material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

• the information given in the trustees’ report (incorporating the strategic report and the directors’ report) for 
the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; 
and 

• the trustees' report (incorporating the strategic report and the directors’ report) have been prepared in 
accordance with applicable legal requirements. 
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Charity and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we 
have not identified material misstatements in the Trustees’ Annual Report [including the Strategic Report]. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to 
report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us;  

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns;  

• certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not obtained all the information and explanations necessary for the purpose of our audit. 

Responsibilities of the trustees 

As explained more fully in the trustees’ responsibilities statement [set out on page 31], the trustees are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal 
control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the Charity's ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the trustees either intend to liquidate the Charity or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting 
Council's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report. 

 
Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the Charity’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies 
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Charity’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Charity’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, 
or for the opinions we have formed. 

 
 
 
 
Stephen Potter FCA (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of Carter Nicholls Limited 
 
Chartered Accountants 
 
Victoria House 
Stanbridge Park 
Staplefield Lane 
Staplefield 
West Sussex 
RH17 6AS 

Dated:  
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Expendable

Unrestricted Restricted Endowment Total Funds Total Funds

Note Funds Funds Funds 2020 2019

£ £ £ £ £

INCOME AND ENDOWMENTS FROM :

Donations and Legacies 6 204,636       1,449,901  -                     1,654,537    1,350,888     

Income from Charitable Activities 7 24,840         7,824          -                     32,664         31,924          

Income from Investments 5 7,161            4,786          13,708         25,655         65,423          

Total Income and Endowments 236,637       1,462,511  13,708         1,712,856    1,448,235     

EXPENDITURE ON :

Expenditure on Raising Funds 8 90,311         -                   -                     90,311         90,832          

Expenditure on Charitable 

Activities 9 318,764 1,343,279 -                     1,662,043     1,408,483     

Total Expenditure 409,075       1,343,279  -                     1,752,354    1,499,315     

Net gains / (losses) on investments 12 -                   -                     -                     -                     

Net Income / (Expenditure) (172,438)      119,232     13,708         (39,498)        (51,080)         

NET MOVEMENT IN FUNDS (172,438)      119,232     13,708         (39,498)        (51,080)         

RECONCILIATION OF FUNDS

Total Funds brought Forward 909,448       378,281     921,723       2,209,452    2,260,532     

Total Funds Carried Forward 737,010£     497,513£   935,431£     2,169,954£ 2,209,452£  

The statement of financial activities includes all  gains and losses recognised in the year.

All income and expenditure derive from continuing activities.

The notes on pages 35 to 43 form part of these accounts

IMPACT FOUNDATION

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES

 (including income and expenditure account)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2020
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Director/Trustee:     Director/Trustee: 

 
 
Approved and authorised by the Board:  16th July 2020 

IMPACT FOUNDATION

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31ST MARCH 2020

Note 2020 2019

£ £

FIXED ASSETS

Tangible assets 11 120,067        124,967         

Property Investment 12 256,000        256,000         

376,067        380,967         

CURRENT ASSETS

Debtors 13 14,534          9,805              

Short term deposits 1,456,648     1,799,257      

Cash at bank and in hand 333,273        29,675            

1,804,455     1,838,737      

CREDITORS : amounts falling due

within one year 14 10,568          10,252            

NET CURRENT ASSETS 1,793,887     1,828,485      

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,169,954     2,209,452      

NET ASSETS 2,169,954£  2,209,452£    

FUNDS 2

Expendable Endowment 19 935,431        921,723         

Restricted 20 497,512        378,280         

1,432,943     1,300,003      

Unrestricted

Designated 21 435,505        557,490         

Fixed Assets replacement 19 120,066        124,966         

Other 19 181,440        226,993         

737,011        909,449         
Total Funds 2,169,954     2,209,452      

The notes on pages 35 to 43 form part of these accounts

The above accounts have been prepared in accordance with the special provisions of Part 15 of the

Companies Act 2006 relating to small companies  

Signed on behalf of the board of Directors/Trustees
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IMPACT FOUNDATION

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR YEAR ENDING 31ST MARCH 2020

Note 2020 2019

£ £

Net cash used in operating activities 22 (64,666)      219,210     

Cash Flows from investing activities 5 25,655       65,423       

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash

equivalents in the year (39,011)      284,633     

Cash and cash equivalents at the 

beginning of the year 1,828,932 1,544,299 

Total cash and cash equivalents at the

end of the year 1,789,921 1,828,932 
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IMPACT FOUNDATION

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2020

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Accounting Convention

Reconciliation with previous Genarally Accepted Accounting Practice

Capital Expenditure

Depreciation

Buildings Over 50 Years

Computers and Equipment Over 4 Years

Investments

Investments are included in the accounts at market value at the year end.

Income

Gifts in Kind

Expenditure

Pension Costs

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting & Reporting by Charities: Statement

of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial

Reporting Standard applicable in the UK (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2015) - (charities SORP (FRS 102) and the

Companies Act 2006.

Liabilities are recognised as soon as they become known. Expenditure on Charitable Activities includes the

proportion of salaries, secretarial costs and other relevant expenses which relate to the planning, development

and administration of these activities. Staff costs are allocated proportionally on a time spent basis. Other

indirect costs are apportioned as the trustees deem appropriate from time to time.

By agreement with the Trustees, the Foundation makes defined contributions to personal pension arrangements

chosen by the relevant staff, and administers an auto enrolment pension. The costs of such contributions are

charged to expenditure as they fall  due.

Gifts in kind of assets held as stock for distribution by the charity are recognised as incoming resources within

"voluntary Income" only when distributed with an equivalent amount being included as resources expended

under the appropriate category of the Statement of Financial Activities to reflect its distribution. The assets are

valued at the open market cost for equivalent items.

In preparing the accounts the trustees have considered whether in applying the accounting policies required by

FRS102 and the Charities SORP FRS102 the restatement of comparative items was required. At the date of

transition no items were identified that required restatement.

Items of an enduring nature are treated as fixed assets.  Other items are written off in the year of purchase.

Depreciation is provided on tangible assets, at a rate calculated to write off the cost less estimated residual

value, of each asset over its useful l ife as follows:

Income is accounted for on a receivable basis taking account of entitlement, probability and measurement as

defined within current accounting regulations.
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2 FUNDS

3 RESERVES

Unrestricted reserves are needed:

b)   to cover administration, fund-raising and support costs without which the charity could not function.

The level of reserves is monitored and reviewed by the Trustees three times a year.

4 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND FINANCIAL LEASES

These accounts include four categories of fund within the general headings of restricted and unrestricted.

Unrestricted funds are expendable at the discretion of the Trustees who have designated funds which are

earmarked for particular projects. Such designation is not a binding restriction - the Council can redesignate

such money if they consider it appropriate.

Expendable endowment is a fund where the donor wishes income to be used for limited charitable purposes.

The Trustees have power to convert the fund to income.  This is also a restricted fund.

Other unrestricted reserves as defined above currently equate to the minimum considered prudent.

There were no capital commitments at the year end. There were no material commitments in respect of financial

leases.

a)   to provide funds which can be designated to specific projects to enable these projects to be undertaken at 

short notice, and

Fixed Assets fund is an amount equal to the net value of functional fixed assets. This is treated as an

unrestricted fund.

Restricted Funds may be used for specific purposes and may not be used by the charity for any other purposes,

without the prior consent of the donor.

The Trustees consider it prudent that other funds within unrestricted reserves excluding designated and fixed

asset replacement should be sufficient to cover six months administration, fund-raising, governance and

support costs.
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5 INVESTMENT POLICY

The Foundation's policy is to invest with careful consideration of the following:

a)     SECURITY

what level of risk is acceptable.

b)     REALISABILITY The need for easy and speedy realisation without incurring

material loss.

c)     PERIOD OF INVESTMENT The minimum period for which the investment can be made before

proceeds are required.

d)     ETHICAL Need to avoid unethical investment.

e)     INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS

2020 2019

£ £

Bank and deposit interest 18,492         12,555         

Property net income 7,163           52,868         

25,655 65,423

Property gross rent receivable was £8,849

6 DONATIONS AND LEGACIES

Unrestricted Restricted Expendable Total Prior Year

Funds Funds Endowment Funds Total Funds

Gift Aided Donations 64,283         194,706      -                    258,989      144,791            

Legacies 73,667         -                    -                    73,667         182,071            

Other Donations 66,686         1,147,195   -                    1,213,881   883,626            

Sub-total 204,636      1,341,901   -                    1,546,537   1,210,488         

Gifts in Kind -                    108,000      -                    108,000      140,400            

204,636      1,449,901   -                    1,654,537   1,350,888         

7 INCOME FROM CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES

2020 2019

£ £

Supporters Lunch Club 24,840         25,774         

Rotary 7,824           6,150           

32,664         31,924         

8 EXPENDITURE ON RAISING FUNDS

£ £

Supporters Luncheon Club 11,248         11,851         

Staff Costs 67,436         70,753         

Other Costs 11,627         8,228           

90,311         90,832         

Gifts in kind of £108,000 represents the open market value of intraocular lenses and associated equipment

received from Rayner Intraocular Lenses Limited which have been sent 50:50 to Sri Lanka and Cambodia in

accordance with the donor's wishes for use by IMPACT Foundation in those countries. 

The need to avoid incurring losses and to take into account 
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9 EXPENDITURE ON CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES

Unrestricted Restricted Expendable

Funds Funds Endowment 2020 2019

£ £ £ £

Bangladesh 481              375,179      375,660      574,077            

Cambodia 40,431         156,253      -                    196,684      65,324              

East Africa 14,039         235,809      -                    249,848      107,215            

India 22,509         89,547         -                    112,056      83,588              

Nepal 64,939         11,790         -                    76,729         202,645            

Pakistan -                    -                    -                    -                    -                          

Sri Lanka -                    54,000         -                    54,000         7,500                 

Tanzania -                    21,221         -                    21,221         26,921              

Zanzibar -                    128,176      -                    128,176      52,827              

Other International -                    199,211      -                    199,211      33,375              

United Kingdom -                    4,764           -                    4,764           3,186                 

Sir John Wilson Memorial Fund -                    -                    -                    3,000                 

142,399      1,275,950   -                    1,418,349   1,159,658         

Support Costs 176,365      67,329         -                    243,694      248,825            

318,764      1,343,279   -                    1,662,043   1,408,483         

Support Costs are further analysed Staff Other

Note 2020 2019

£ £

International Research 24,626         2,526           27,152         26,045         

International 103,769      28,052         131,821      139,996      

United Kingdom 20,906         5,087           25,993         25,490         

Administration 33,342         9,618           42,960         40,829         

Governance Costs 10 8,023           7,744           15,767         16,465         

190,666      53,027         243,693      248,825      

10 GOVERNANCE COSTS 2020 2019

£ £

Audit 4,657 4,977

Staff Costs 8,023 9,063

Other 3,087 2,425

15,767         16,465         

Included in the Restricted Fund resources expended is the sum of £108,000 which represents the value of Gifts in 

Kind as shown within note 6 to the accounts.

Total Expenditure
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11 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Freehold

Land and Computers Total

Buildings other equip.

Cost £ £ £

At 01.04.19 167,725      8,581           176,306      

Additions during year -                    -                    -                    

At 31.03.20 167,725      8,581           176,306      

Depreciation

At 01.04.19 47,703         3,636           51,339         

Charge for year 2,755           2,145           4,900           

At 31.03.20 50,458         5,781           56,239         

Net Book Value

At 31.03.20 117,267      2,800           120,067      

At 31.03.19 120,022      4,945          124,967      

12 PROPERTY INVESTMENT

2020 2019

£ £

At 01.04.19 256,000 581,000

Disposal -                    (325,000)     

At 31.03.20 256,000 256,000

13 DEBTORS 2020 2019

£ £

Accrued Interest 13,017         6,764           

Income tax recoverable 1,517           3,041           

14,534         9,805           

14 CREDITORS - amounts falling due within one year 2020 2019

£ £

Sundry Creditors and Accruals 10,568         10,252         

10,568         10,252        

The property investment represents a bungalow donated to the Impact Foundation which is

shown in the accounts at their professionally assessed market values (per Graham Butt Estate

Agents)of £256,000. As the property values are likely to increase in the long term no

adjustment for depreciation is deemed appropriate to show a true and fair view.
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15 EMPLOYEES

2020 2019

The average number of persons employed by the

Foundation was: Full time employees 3                   4                   

Part time employees 4                   4                   

7                   8                   

Staff costs during the year were as follows:- 

Salaries and wages 223,262      240,840      

Social Security costs 16,662         18,406         

Pension contributions 18,179         18,914         

258,103      278,160      

Employees received emoluments including pension contributions as follows:

between £60,000 and £70,000 1                   1                  

16 DIRECTORS / TRUSTEES

There were eighteen  trustees,  all  of whom are members of the Executive Council and

none of whom receive any remuneration from the Foundation.

Trustees did not claim reimbursement for expenses

17 AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The auditor's remuneration for audit work was £2,637 (2019- £2,580).

18 FUND MOVEMENT

RESERVES

Expendable Other Fixed Asset Designated General Total

Endowment 2020

At 01.04.19 921,723         378,280      124,966      557,490      226993 2,209,452         

Income and Endowments 13,708           1,462,511   -                    -                    236,638      1,712,857         

Expenditure -                      (1,343,279)  -                    (232,885)     (176,191)     (1,752,355)       

Other - Designated -                      -                    -                    110,900      (110,900)     -                          

Asset replacement -                      -                    (4,900)          -                    4,900           -                          

At 31.03.20 935,431         497,512      120,066      435,505      181,440      2,169,954         

UNRESTRICTEDRESTRICTED
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19 ASSETS AND LIABILITIES SPLIT BY FUND

RESERVES

Expendable Other Fixed Asset Designated General Total

Endowment 2020

Fixed assets 256,000         -                    120,066      -                    -                    376,066            

Current assets 679,431         497,512      -                    435,505      192,008      1,804,456         

Current Liabilities -                      -                    -                    -                    (10,568)       (10,568)             

Fund Balances 935,431         497,512      120,066      435,505      181,440      2,169,954         

20 RESTRICTED FUNDS

Balance Increase Decrease Balance

01.04.19 31.03.20

Bangladesh

Riverboat Hospita l  and Prevention Project -                    11,787         4,716           7,071           

Coronavirus -                    63                 3                   60                 

General 494              48,261         48,755         -                    

Nurses  Insti tute 3,431           19,822         7,029           16,224         

Community Health Care Centre -                    27,896         15,000         12,896         

20th Anniversary Appeal 29,338         462,113      249,205      242,246      

Fis tula  & Hydrocephalus -                    9,450           9,450           -                    

Water Appeal 19,557         44,310         63,615         252              

Cambodia

General -                    78,016         77,964         52                 

Disabi l i ty Prevention -                    40,431         40,431         -                    

Lake Cl inic 5,578           24,973         28,973         1,578           

East Africa

Disabi l i ty Prevention 147,222      95,110         241,942      390              

Tumaini  Chi ldren's  Chari ty 561              563              553              571              

Water Projects 5,448           2,300           7,352           396              

India 

Disabi l i ty Prevention Bhavnagar 1,051           25,048         26,099         -                    

Integrated Project Pune -                    24,632         24,632         -                    

Li fel ine Express  Hospita l  Tra in 12,288         55,268         66,510         1,046           

General 62                 460              84                 438              

Pakistan

Safer Motherhood 500              4,170           -                    4,670           

UNRESTRICTEDRESTRICTED
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RESTRICTED FUNDS - Cont.

Nepal

General -                    66,804         66,414         390              

Rautahat - Safer Motherhood -                    10,848         10,315         533              

Tanzania

General -                    9,000           9,000           -                    

Maternity 1,490           8,672           8,671           1,491           

Fis tula  Unit -                    3,713           3,558           155              

Zanzibar

Water -                    2,875           2,100           775              

General 21,641         60,218         63,050         18,809         

School  Based Disabi l i ty Prevention -                    -                    

School  For The Deaf 20,150         160,755      79,059         101,846      

Sir John Wilson

Memoria l  Fund 3,256           -                    -                    3,256           

International

General 55,000         12,786         40,330         27,456         

Eye Care 51,213         2,239           1,521           51,931         

Access ible Surgery -                    25,000         25,000         -                    

Early Identi fication & Treatment -                    25,000         25,000         -                    

Safer Motherhood & Chi ld Surviva l -                    25,062         25,062         -                    

Health education & Tra ining -                    25,077         25,077         -                    

Safe Water & Sanitation -                    25,000         25,000         -                    

Ending Malnutri tion -                    25,077         25,077         -                    

Poverty Aleviation -                    25,043         25,043         -                    

United Kingdom

Tasty Team Project -                    8,795           5,815           2,980           

378,280      1,496,637   1,377,405   497,512      

All  the above balances are held in cash. 
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21 DESIGNATED FUNDS

Balance Designated Expended Balance

01.04.19 during year during year 31.03.20

Bangladesh

Riverboat Hospita l  & Prevention Project 50,224         10,715         39,509         

General 75,361         15,481         59,880         

Nurses  Insti tute 9,000           -                    -                    9,000           

Cambodia

Disabi l i ty Prevention 42,262         -                    42,262         -                    

East Africa

Disabi l i ty Prevention 44,540         38,986         29,039         54,487         

Water projects 269              -                    -                    269              

India

Disabi l i ty Prevention Bhavnagar 19,785         -                    5,198           14,587         

Integrated Project Pune 21,336         1,914           23,250         -                    

Nepal

General 58,906         50,000         74,940         33,966         

Pakistan

Safer Motherhood 26,807         -                    -                    26,807         

Sri Lanka

Cl inics 10,192         -                    -                    10,192         

Zanzibar

General 48,299         2,000           46,299         

United Kingdom

Tasty Team Project -                    20,000         20,000         -                    

International

General 100,509      -                    10,000         90,509         

Contingency Fund 50,000         -                    -                    50,000         

557,490      110,900      232,885      435,505      

All  of the above funds are held in cash.

22 RECONCILIATION OF NET MOVEMENT IN FUNDS TO NET

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2020 2019

£ £

Net movement in funds (39,498)       (51,080)       

Adjustments for :

Depreciation charges /(purchase fixed assets) 4,900           2,280           

Interest and rent from investments (25,655)       (65,423)       

Cash flow on investment disposal -                    325,000      

(Increase) / decrease in debtors (4,729)          8,452           

Increase / (decrease) in creditors 316              (19)               

Net cash used in operating activities (64,666)       219,210      
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How will you make your IMPACT? 
 
The work you have read about in this report is only made possible by the generosity of our supporters.  Funds 
are urgently needed to continue and expand our projects so that even more people benefit in the coming years.  
Please send us a donation using the Gift Form provided. Alternatively, telephone 01444 457080 or visit our 
website to make your gift.  Thank you. 

 

Increase your gift at no extra cost  
UK taxpayers can add more to their gift without it costing them an extra penny.  Please tick 
the Gift Aid box on the Gift Form, return it to us and we will do the rest. This will also 
enable us to claim Gift Aid on donations you have made to IMPACT in the past four years. 
Higher rate taxpayers also benefit from additional tax relief on their gifts.  
 

Regular giving  
Setting up a standing order using the regular giving form makes 
supporting IMPACT’s work simple and knowing that we can depend on 
regular gifts enables us to implement long-term projects.  Ticking the Gift 
Aid box on the Gift Form means we can reclaim tax on your generous 
donations too. 

 

Legacies  
Remembering IMPACT in your will gives a gift to future generations.  
Donations to charity are currently free of inheritance tax which can help 
to reduce the tax burden on your estate.  Our special leaflet provides 
more details and is available upon request or online 
www. IMPACT.org.uk/donate/remember-us-in-your-will 
 

Shares  
Tax relief is available on gifts of shares. 
 

Fundraising events 
Holding a fundraising event or sponsored challenge to support IMPACT’s work is now even easier thanks to 
Virgin Money Giving, an online service which enables fundraisers to set up dedicated pages for their event and 
to process credit and debit card donations.  Please visit www.virginmoneygiving.com and search for IMPACT 
Foundation. 

 

Further information  
Please visit our website at www.IMPACT.org.uk.  We publish regular newsletters and reviews and you can sign 
up for our e-newsletter online. You can also follow us on Twitter @IMPACT_UK_ and Facebook 
www.facebook.com/IMPACTFoundationUK and Instagram @impactfoundation_uk 

 

Please contact us 
We are only a telephone call away on 01444 457080 and would love to hear from you. 

 
IMPACT Foundation, 151 Western Road, Haywards Heath, West Sussex, RH16 3LH 
Email:  impact@impact.org.uk  
Registered Charity No. 290992 
  

http://www.virginmoneygiving.com/
http://www.impact.org.uk/
http://www.facebook.com/IMPACTFoundationUK
mailto:impact@impact.org.uk
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£25  

Could establish a garden to 
feed another family 

 

 
 
 

£40  

Could help to restore sight, 
hearing or mobility; or repair 
another child’s cleft lip 

£100 
Could help train and equip a local 
health worker or traditional birth 
attendant 

 
 
 

£1,700 
brings clean water to a 
whole community 

 
 

 
 

Legacies 
Remembering IMPACT in 
your will can make a 
difference long into the 
future. When the time is 
right, please consider 
leaving us a legacy. 
 

 
 
 

Regular giving  
Knowing that we can depend on regular gifts enables us to 
implement long-term projects. You can set up a standing 
order to IMPACT using the regular giving form (right).   
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IMPACT Gift Tokens  
 
IMPACT’s unique range of gift tokens make a heart-warming gift and 
can be personalised and sent directly to your loved ones.  
 
Visit our website to find out more www.IMPACT.org.uk/shop/ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

http://www.impact.org.uk/
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Appendix I: IMPACT Foundation, ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2019-20 

 
We set ourselves 14 goals in last year’s report – ‘Looking to the Future’ page 24 of IMPACT Annual Report and Accounts 2018-19.  We are 
pleased to report that 13 of these were achieved in full, and one was partially achieved. Had the Covid-19 pandemic lockdown not 
prevented IMPACT East Africa from completing four boreholes in Q4, 100% of last year’s goals would have been achieved. The details of 
this action is broken down below:  
 

Our 2019/20 - goals as set out in IMPACT’s Annual 
Report and Accounts 2018/19 

What we achieved during financial year 2019/20 

Train more nurses at the IMPACT Bangladesh 
Nursing Institute  

Funded the training of 10 students in order to help meet the critical shortage of 
nurses in the country 
 

Install at least 4 more boreholes to provide clean 
water in Kenyan schools and establish a sanitation 
programme in a further 8 schools.  This will include 
installing toilets and handwashing equipment, and 
delivering hygiene health education  

Installed pit latrines (segregated into boys/girls) and handwashing stations 
installed in 8 schools and delivered hygiene and sanitation education to 2,800 
people. Unfortunately, the Covid-19 pandemic and national lockdown happened 
just as the drilling rig was due to leave Nairobi for Mwingi.   The boreholes will 
be drilled as soon as it is safe to do so. 

Continue to fund the provision of clean, safe water 
and sanitation in Bangladesh, Cambodia and 
Zanzibar 

In Bangladesh – installed a ringwell, 6 SIDKO plants and 40 arsenic filters 
benefiting approximately 3,700 people. Installed or upgraded 5 school toilet 
blocks, benefiting 125 teachers and 7,500 pupils 
In Cambodia – provided 110 water filters to schools, hospitals and family homes 
in Banteay Meanchey Province 
In Zanzibar – installed a community well to provide safe drinking water for 
households living around it.  

Expand eye care services into even more 
underserved communities in Magura, Jhenaidah 
and Kustia districts, Bangladesh 

Ran the second phase of an extended cataract project, taking a mobile eye clinic 
into Magura, Jhenaidah and Kushtia districts in western Bangladesh.  2,631 
people had their eyes checked and 120 people were provided with sight-
restoring cataract surgery at IMPACT Bangladesh’s hospitals 
 

Further support the development of IMPACT 
Zanzibar’s neonatal screening and treatment 
programme 

Screened 5,137 babies for signs of hearing impairment as part of IMPACT 
Zanzibar’s neonatal screening programme and provided treatment or 
rehabilitation as necessary  

Support the Lifeline Express in India to expand its 
reach  

Held 6 Lifeline Express projects at locations across India. Examined 33,591 
people for sight, hearing, orthopaedic, dental, heart, neurological, cancer and 
general health conditions (and treatment provided as necessary); Provided 
4,120 operations to restore sight, hearing or mobility, or to repair cleft lip or 
another condition 

Expand maternal, newborn and child healthcare in 
Bangladesh 

Trained 802 Traditional Birth Attendants and provided them with sterile 
equipment. Provided 2,943 women in Chuadanga district with ante and post 
natal care, including micronutrient supplements (folic acid etc.); provided 5,405 
immunisations against infectious diseases and/or Vitamin A to protect children’s 
eyesight. Supported IMPACT Bangladesh to run a community based primary 
healthcare project in Meherpur district, which provided 1,664 women with 
quality pre and postnatal care including vaccinations and dietary supplements as 
required.  

Install a borehole as a sustainable source of safe 
water for IMPACT’s ENT hospital in Birgunj  

Installed a borehole to provide a safe water source at IMPACT Nepal’s dedicated 
Community Ear Centre (hospital) in Birgunj which is benefiting more than 15,000 
people a year. 
 

Renovate IMPACT’s School for Deaf Children in 
Stone Town, Zanzibar 

Renovated IMPACT’s School for Deaf Children and provided running costs for 
one year.   
 

Support pilot mental health initiatives in Cambodia Contributed towards the development of a pilot mental health project, which 
has been attached to The Lake Clinic’s services this year.   

Continue to support schools in our target areas in 
Cambodia, Kenya and Zanzibar 

In Zanzibar – supported IMPACT Zanzibar’s school health project. The health of 
86,779 children was checked by IMPACT-trained School Health Monitors 
In Kenya – established health screening and other activities to prevent and treat 
needless disability in 53 schools  
In Cambodia – screened and treated 738 children for ENT issues in primary 
schools 

Provide life-changing accessible surgery to treat 
conditions such as cataract, hydrocephalus, 
clubfoot, cleft palate and obstetric fistula in 
Bangladesh, India, Tanzania and Zanzibar 

Provided 9,613 operations to restore sight, mobility or hearing, or to repair cleft 
lip or fistula, or treat hydrocephalus in Bangladesh, India, Tanzania and Zanzibar 

Replace IMPACT East Africa’s outdated project 
vehicle 
 

Purchased a new vehicle to enable safer and quicker journeys to project areas. 
 

Fund further medical teams to operate and train 
local surgeons overseas where needed 

Supported medical teams from Nepal to stage ENT surgical camps in Cambodia 
and Zanzibar 
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IMPACT 
FOUNDATIO
N 

NOTES TO 
THE 
ACCOUNTS 

FOR THE 
YEAR 
ENDED 31ST 
MARCH 
2020 

1 ACCOUNTIN
G POLICIES 
Accounting 
Convention 
Reconciliation 
with previous 
Genarally 
Accepted 
Accounting 
Practice 

Capital 
Expenditure 
Depreciation Buildings Over 50 Years Computers 
and 
Equipment 

Over 4 Years Investments Investments 
are included 
in the 
accounts at 
market value 
at the year 
end. 

Income Gifts in Kind Expenditure Pension Costs The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting & Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommende
d 
Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2015) - (charities SORP (FRS 102) and the Companies 
Act 2006. 
Liabilities are recognised as soon as they become known. Expenditure on Charitable Activities includes the proportion of salaries, secretarial costs and other relevant expenses which relate to the planning, development and administratio
n 
of these activities. Staff costs are allocated proportionall
y 
on a time spent basis. Other indirect costs 
are 
apportioned 
as the 
trustees 
deem 
appropriate 
from time to 
time. 

By agreement with the Trustees, the Foundation makes defined contributions to personal pension arrangement
s 
chosen by the relevant staff, and administers an auto enrolment pension. The costs of such contributions are charged to 
expenditure 
as they fall 
due. 

Gifts in kind of assets held as stock for distribution by the charity are recognised as incoming resources within "voluntary Income" only when distributed with an equivalent amount being included as resources expended under the appropriate category of the Statement of Financial Activities to reflect its distribution. The assets are valued at the 
open market 
cost for 
equivalent 
items. 

In preparing the accounts the trustees have considered whether in applying the accounting policies required by FRS102 and the Charities SORP FRS102 the restatement of comparative items was required. At the date of transition no 
items were 
identified 
that required 
restatement. 

Items of an 
enduring 
nature are 
treated as 
fixed assets.  
Other items 
are written 
off in the 
year of 
purchase. 

Depreciation is provided on tangible assets, at a rate calculated to write off the cost less estimated residual value, of each 
asset over its 
useful life as 
follows: 

Income is accounted for on a receivable   account  entitlement, probability   
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